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COURT RESUMES ON 21 JANUARY 2010   (at 15:11) 

COURT:  Mr Lewis? 

MR LEWIS:  I  bel ieve I  am expected to del iver some kind of  

f inal  argument based on the evidence. 

COURT:  Yes. 5 

MR LEWIS:  Is that  correct? 

COURT:  That is correct ,  ja,  i t  is  for argument.  

MR LEWIS:  I  have just  wri t ten up some th ings so I am just 

going to read i t  i f  that  is okay.  

COURT:  That is f ine,  of  course.  10 

MR LEWIS ADDRESSES COURT:   M‟Lord ,  yesterday we 

heard test imony from an individual who is unable to admit 

there was a problem with ove rt ime at the company, but is 

wi l l ing to admit  in the f inal  analysis  there was to quote:   “A 

problem with the carpool on a Friday night . ”   We have a 15 

document which has been accepted as evidence by the other 

party detai l ing the Jewish bel ief  with regard to F r iday night .   

Furthermore the recent amendment by the respondent tabled 

before th is evidence was led goes so far as to attack the very 

basis for my existence as a Jew and one can only presume 20 

that  th is is an example in wri t ing of  the kind of  d irect 

d iscr iminat ion experienced at  the company.  

 We have del ivered evidence regarding the company‟s 

histor ical  legacy in an evi l ,  racist  and ant i -Semit ic Apartheid 

system and i ts unconscionable behaviour towards fe l low South25 
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Af r icans.   We have shown the Court  document s detai l ing the 

ongoing fa i lure by the company to come clean about i ts 

act ivi t ies under Apartheid and in fact i ts resistance to and non -

part ic ipat ion in the Truth Commission.  

 This is not  s imply a company which aided and abetted 5 

the Apartheid regime by del iver ing goods and services l ike the 

pla int i f fs l is ted in the Khulumani vic t ims of  Apartheid case in 

New York.   This is the selfsame company who set  up by D F 

Malan himself  and which to th is very day has board members 

who can trace their  h istory and posit io ns of  pr ivi lege back to 10 

P W Botha and Hendrik Verwoerd in the cabinets and 

governments of  that  t ime.  

 Yet th is company with such enormous resources at i ts 

d isposal has made the most s implest of  errors.   The company 

has been unable to show the Court  a bona f ide contract  of  15 

employment and in fact  there is no set t lement or terminat ion 

document which can be re l ied upon which might point  to 

adherence to any part  of  the LRA.  Furthermore the company 

does not –  and admits th is –  i t  does not keep record of  

overt ime and whenever the issue of  overt ime has come up we 20 

have been to ld i t  is  the prerogat ive of  management, not  the 

worker.  

 For any contract to be accepted as legal ly b inding there 

must be at  very least  an agreement  and hopeful ly a document 

set t ing out  what was agreed to or not .  In fact ,  the Court  is 25 
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obl iged to protect the r ights of  c i t izens to enter into contracts 

and to contract  their  labour in th is way.   This is a labour court 

in which there are very str ict  laws and presidents governing 

the manner in which employment contracts are entered into 

and terminated.  In fact ,  one of  the start l ing facts about th is 5 

court  is that  i t  has gone so far as to protect the rights of  

workers to negot iate contracts of  employment and has even 

set  aside provis ions which might be  interpreted as prevent ing 

such negot iat ion and the reasonable expectat ion of  renewal.  

 Furthermore there are laws governing the working week 10 

and the 36 hour weekly interval .   Al though I  have brought th is 

case in terms of  the Employment Equity Act ,  the sam e laws 

which govern contracts in any other d ivis ion should also apply.  

According to the Act d iscr iminat ion in terms of  any of  the l is ted 

reason under section 6 is considered a contravent ion of  the 15 

Act.   I  presented a case al leging that two of  the l is ted gr ounds, 

namely pol i t ical  bel ief  and re l igious and/or cul tural  af f i l ia t ion 

have been contravened.  

 The respondent ‟s Annel ien Dean was adamant yesterday 

that  no controversy would be to lerated in the workplace.  We 20 

heard how –  what she considered a case of  inf r ingement of  the 

in ternal  ru les of  the company or a case of  quote:  “ borderl ine 

plagiar ism ” ,  could not  be rect i f ied by rewr i t ing or resubmit t ing 

the piece.  We heard how she re jected my second art ic le and 

we heard no doubt my own assert ion that  I  stand one  hundred 25 
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percent behind the second piece of  wri t ing.  

 M‟Lord ,  th is Court  is not  a media t r ibunal.  I  am not 

asking for the Court  to del iver an opin ion as to whether o r not  

my wri t ing is good or bad or whether what I  d id was borderl ine 

plagiar ism or controversia l  or whatever subject ive reason that 5 

has been of fered by the respondent.  I  am however asking the 

Court  to protect  my fundamental  r ights not  to be subject  to 

pol i t ical ly mot ivated discr iminat ion and Judeophobia.  To not 

be subject to the kind of  cheap ploys and tact ics of  an 

individual or group of  individuals who bel ieve that  they can 10 

simply rewr i te events to sui t  their own aims and object ives 

i rrespect ive of  the evidence.  

 Yesterday we enterta ined quest ioning regarding Annel ien 

Dean‟s d iary.   We entertained quest ions about the sequence of  

events and the causal i ty of  events and we put the quest ion to 15 

the witness that  essent ia l ly the events could not  have occurred 

in the way that  they maintain that  they occurred.   At  the end of  

the day whether one sees the problem of  the topic of  

conversat ion at  the evaluat ion meet ing to be one of  overt ime 

ta lk,  whether i t  was a discip l inary hearing or whether i t  was a 20 

simple meet ing gathered to d iscuss a carpool,  the issue 

invariably comes back to:  What was I  doing on Fr iday night .  

 The two dimensions of  th is case –  the one to do with the 

day to day pol i t ical  intr igue of  a community newspaper and the 

other to do with the law of  contract  and the manner and 25 
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percept ion of  my Jewish ident i ty both presume a quest ion 

which the respondent has not been able to answer.   In what 

way has the respondent provided reasonable accommodat ion?  

In what way has there been any at tempt to provide 

accommodat ion either for my pol i t ical  views or my Jewish 5 

ident i ty.  

 Clearly the respondent has sought to h ide behind the fact 

that  i t  is  a very large corporat ion,  that  i ts views are therefore 

the norm and status quo which governs society and should be 

accepted as such.  People such as me should just  shut up.  10 

The minori ty v iew has no re levance in terms  of  the major i ty.   

M‟Lord ,  the LRA was craf ted to avoid th is homogeneity.   We 

l ive in a heterogeneous society in which human beings have 

fundamental  human r ights.   Workers are no longer canon 

fodder for bosses to s imply boss around without reference to 15 

the LRA. 

 Al though Ms Dean do not mix with people such as myself  

outside the context  of  work,  a l though she, l ike so many of  the 

manageria l  c lass of  Media 24,  they th ink i t  demeaning to 

associate with people of  colour outside of  the workplace. She 20 

is forced to  conf ront  issues of  cul tural ,  re l igious and pol i t ical 

ident i ty in a modern and transforming South Af r ica.  What am I 

doing working on a Fr iday night  with a contract  that  presumes 

an eight  hour day,  Monday to Fr iday,  but  in an environment in 

which anything goes.   This is the quest ion foremost on my 25 
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mind.  This was the quest ion foremost on my mind at  the 

evaluat ion and i t  is  the selfsame quest ion which is echoed in 

my report ,  that  is part  of  the bundle of  evidence.  

 I f  there is nothing immediately protect ing  me against  the 

might of  a very large corporat ion then i t  is  perhaps easier to 5 

turn to the Torah and Talmud for assistance than i t  is  to the 

LRA.  At Media 24 i t  was not the LRA that  I  carr ied around in 

my back pocket, but  rather the bel iefs and tradi t ions  and 

cul tural  her i tage which inform my ident i ty as a Jew in South 

Af r ica.   Where does the company begin and end?  What are my 10 

r ights vis-à-vis  the corporat ion?  Can the respondent d ictate to 

me what I  do on a Fr iday night?  

 And when faced with such pol i t ical  opposit ion to i ts own 

authori ty can the corporat ion simply terminate my contract 

without any negotiat ion whatsoever for whatever reason and 15 

shut me out into the street?  M‟Lord ,  th is Court  may not 

perceive the signi f icance which Fr iday night  has in the l i fe of  

ordinary Jews in South Af r ica.   I t  may not understand the 

mystery which is  at  the heart  of Judaism, but  surely i t  

understands that in a world of  24/7 some landmarks and 20 

reference points remain the same, even in the chaos of  a 

product ion cycle.  

 I t  is  c lear f rom Annel ien Dean‟s test imony yesterday that 

th is product ion cycle,  th is chaos, was a l imited,  for a l imited 

t ime. I t  was a l imited period of  chaos in which the edi tor of  one 25 
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smal l  t i t le  suddenly found herself  conf ronted with four new 

edit ions.   The quest ion in my mind is how long would i t  have 

taken for the company to rect i fy i ts act ions?  Did i t  have to 

resort  to the kind of  punishment, penal is ing,  browbeat ing 

abuse in f lagrant denial  of  human r ights that  i t  d id?  5 

 Surely there are discip l inary p rocedures, there are 

methods to rect i fy lack of  d iscipl ine or problems in an 

organisat ion that  are referred to by legis lat ion.   I  therefore ask 

the Court  to f ind in my favour,  to restore my digni ty as an 

individual,  to state unequivocal ly that  Jews such as  myself  10 

have an inherent r ight  to Fr iday night  observance and that 

i r respect ive of  the pol i t ical  or re l igious out look of  an 

organisat ion there should be at  very least  a modicum of 

reasonableness,  due considerat ion and fa irness shown 

towards both part ies in  a d ispute.   Thank you.  15 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  M‟Lord  …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Mr Kahanovitz?  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I  have prepared wri t ten heads of  argument 

which I  would –  unless Your Lordship insists –  prefer not  to 

read in court.   I f  –  i t  may expedite matters i f  Your Lordship 20 

would maybe, i f  we could maybe even just  take a 10 minute 

break now so that  –  I  am in Your Lordship‟s hands obviously.   I  

mean, the one opt ion is obviously that  I  take Your Lordship 

through my heads.  The other opt ion is that we just  stand down  

br ief ly to a l low Your Lordship t ime to read the heads so that  I25 
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do not need to read through them in court .   I  wi l l  leave i t  in  

Your Lordship‟s hands.  

COURT:  I  just  want the appl icant to be able to hear the 

argument against  h im, so that  a l though he would read i t  as 

wel l ,  I  th ink i t  is  probably best  i f  you do not read your heads of  5 

argument –  you can assume that  I  can speed read –  and that 

you just  take me through the main points and then I  can 

respond to them.   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Al l  r ight .  

COURT:  So I  th ink the best  th ing to be is that  we should hear 10 

you so that the appl icant can hear what argument he has to 

meet because he is ent i t led to respond.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  As the Court  p leases.  

MR KAHANOVITZ ADDRESSES COURT:   M‟Lord ,  in 

paragraph 1 I  summarise the p leaded case.  My submission is 15 

that  i t  is  important to restr ict  oneself  for purposes of  this case 

to the pleaded case because there is far-ranging set of  

a l legat ions have been made about al l  manner of  matter and I 

do not address many issues that  have been ra ised that  fa l l  

outside of  the ambit  of  what th is case is real ly about, so what 20 

th is case is real ly about on the pleadings and the case which 

we came to court to meet is f i rst ly –  and those quotes in 

paragraph 1.1 and so on and so forth are f rom the state ment of  

c la im.   

“Media 24 appl ies a pol icy in terms of  which i t  caters to 25 
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and maintains previously segregated areas by pr int ing 

newspapers that comply with racia l  prof i l ing and thus 

uphold racia l  d ivis ions.   Compl iance with the appl icant as 

an employee wi th  the above racia l  prof i l ing pol icy is 

contrary to h is re l igious and pol i t ical  views, h is r ight  to 5 

express his cul tural  l i fe  as a person of  Jewish descent 

was denied and that  he was forced to work a seven day 

week, sorry,  to work seven day weeks which pre vented 

him f rom observing part icular cul tural  Jewish expressions 

such as Shabbat.  “   10 

 M‟Lord ,  the language I  am using is h is language, not  my 

own.  The fa i lure to renew his f ixed contract ,  f ixed term 

contract , was in breach of  the EEA as he had a legi t imat e 

expectat ion that  i t  would be renewed.  The true reason for the 

fa i lure to renew is to be found in a conspiracy involv ing 15 

systemat ic abuse and unfavourable t reatment both towards 

col leagues and leadership as a result  of  newsroom pol icy.   

Al though the phrase dismissal is somet imes used in certa in of  

the documents i t  is  c lear at  th is stage that  the cla im pleaded 

and advanced in th is court  is not  an unfair  d ismissal c la im 20 

brought under the LRA. Instead the appl icant re l ies exclusively 

on the EEA. 

COURT:  So i t  is  a terminat ion of  the employment re lat ionship, 

which is not  a d ismissal in the sense that  i t  is  an expiry of  the 

three month period and i t  is  not renewed.  That is –  and that  is 25 
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a d iscr iminatory act  is real ly what he is suggest ing.  So i t  is  not  

a d ismissal c la im, i t  is  a d iscr iminatory act .  Had he not –  had 

he f i t ted in –  that  is h is argument.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  

COURT:  Had he f i t ted in the contract  would have been 5 

renewed. 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l  …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  That is h is argument.   There is a reasonable 

expectat ion …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes,  I  suppose there could be two –  I  mean 10 

–  hypothet ical ly –  I  get  to th is later –  you do not –  the only 

reason I  actual ly deal with the concept quest ion of  renewal is 

because he has pleaded i t ,  bu t  …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Yes, but  he also says he was dismissed, so let  us –  I  

mean, the issue real ly is h is complaint ,  whether i t  is  a 15 

dismissal or whether i t  is  a fa i lure to renew the contract.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  

COURT:  I t  real ly is that  the contrac t gets terminated on a date 

when he says he had a legi t imate expectat ion that  i t  would 

cont inue. That is the al legat ion.  20 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  yes,  but  what I  th ink is that  again, 

you could a l lege that  your contract  is terminated in a 

d iscr iminatory fashion without needing to a l lege that  you had a 

reasonable expectat ion that  i t  would be renewed, so.  

COURT:  True, yes,  no I  agree with that .  25 
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MR KAHANOVITZ:  So in that  sense the expectat ion issue is 

legal ly insigni f icant unless the claim is brought under the 

Labour Relat ions Act.  

COURT:  Yes. 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I t  is  factual ly s igni f icant here because he 5 

pleads i t  …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  I t  is  only factual ly s igni f icant here.   Yes,  no,  no,  I  

agree with you ent i re ly.   Then 1.2,  just  my understanding of  

the appl icant ‟s case, he cla ims harassment and I  suppose that 

is  real ly what fal ls under what you say 1.2,  that he is 10 

compel led to comply with a pol icy that  is contrary to h is 

re l igious and pol i t ical  bel iefs and when he does not comply by 

wri t ing art ic les that  do not  f i t  into that  pol icy,  by ra is ing his 

struggle record etcetera,  h is c la im is that  he gets harassed, so 

there is a def in i te c la im in the statement of  c la im around 15 

harassment and that  he is harassed because of  h is re l igious 

bel iefs and pol i t ical  views.  I  am  at  the level  of  a l legation only 

at  the moment.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I  am not sure …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Where does harassment f i t  in to the al legat ions?   20 

They are very c lear in the statement of  c la im.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  they are not  –  once you start  t rying 

to deal with that  analyt ical ,  because let  us go into the 

pleadings.   You see, i t  operates at ,  as I  understand i t ,  at 

d i f ferent  levels.  I  th ink there is a c laim that  –  I  th ink the word 25 
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harassment is used in re lat ion to –  you wi l l  see in  4.4.3 is 

where the word harassment comes in.  

COURT:  No, i t  is  ear l ier.  I t  starts in 4.4 at the opening 

sentence:  In due of  the fo l lowing harassment.  And that  he is 

harassed by being denied,  by being required to work seven 5 

days a week and that  he is harassed because the respondent 

is aware and prevented him f rom doing so and then he was 

harassed in 4.4.3 by Mr Tal jaard,  by making an appointment, 

etcetera,  etcetera.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  But,  M‟Lord ,  4 …(intervent ion)   10 

COURT:  And his evidence, and his evidence …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Ja. 

COURT:  And his evidence was that  th is was because of  h is 

struggle record.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  M‟Lord ,  what the pleadings say,  let  us 15 

leave out 4.4.3 for the moment,  but a l l  the harassment which 

he suf fers in point  1,  point  2 and point  4 is because he is 

Jewish.  

COURT:  Yes. 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  So his harassment for purposes of  those 20 

three legs of  the pleadings real ly amounts to the cla im based 

on –  i t  is  ant i -Semit ism. 

COURT:  Yes. 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  That is the –  he is t reated dif ferent ly and in 

an of fensive manner because he is …(intervent ion)   25 
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COURT:  And that  is …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Because he is Jewish.  

COURT:  And that is what you state is the –  what 1.3 in your 

heads of  argument are deal ing with.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  No, no,  I  do not, because again –  you see, 5 

the footnote refers to paragraph 4.3 of  the statement of  c la im.  

Paragraph 4.3 refers to paragraph 4.2.   4.2 says:    

“At  Media 24 a system exists in terms of  which 

…(intervent ion) ”  

COURT:  Yes, no,  no,  I  am happy with that .  10 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  „The above discr iminates against 

appl icant ‟ .  

COURT:  Yes. 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  As I  understand it  what he is saying is:  I  as 

a journal ist ,  you have forced me to do work that  compl ies with  15 

your racia l  prof i l ing pol icy.   That is d iscr iminat ion.   And then 

4.4 appears to be a new thought or a new di f ferent  –  a 

d i f ferent  cause of  act ion.   So my understanding is and what I  

am saying in 1.2 is that  –  i t  is  referenced back to paragraph 

1.1 of  my heads:  20 

“Media 24 appl ies a pol icy in terms of  which i t  caters to 

and maintains previously segregated areas by pr int ing 

newspapers that  comply with racia l  prof i l ing and thus.”  

 And the impact of  that  pol icy on the staf f  is  that  because 

they are forced to comply with that  pol icy i t  is  of fensive to the 25 
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re l igious and pol i t ica l  views of  someone l ike Mr Lewis.   That is 

what my understanding of  that  –  that  is one cause of  act ion.  

Then there is another which –  that  h is r ight  to express his 

cul tural  l i fe  as a person of  Jewish descent was denied.   I t  is 

the next  cause of act ion.   And I  am not sure where the Mr 5 

Sedrick Tal jaard part  and having to come in to del iver 

newspapers f i ts into that  c la im because that  would –  i f  i t  were 

t rue i t  real ly would seem to be more about a –  there has not 

been any evidence that  the t rue reason why he was asked to 

hand out newspapers at  Grassy Park s ix o ‟c lock in the morning 10 

was he was singled out because of  h is pol i t ical  views or 

because he was Jewish.  

 I  would rather just  deal with that  at  the basis of  a factual 

…(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Ja,  in other words what you are saying is  that  4.4.3 15 

has nothing to do with the discr iminat ion cla im under the 

Employment Equity Act .  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  nei ther –  on a f i rst  b lush reading of  

the pleadings you might th ink i t  has, but  now having heard the 

case as i t  is  presented in court  i t  appears to have nothing to 20 

do with the cla im under the Employment Equity Act .   And 

certa in ly my argument is that  i t  has nothing to do with the 

cla im under the Employment Equity Act .  

COURT:  I t  might be an al legat ion of a breach of  co ntract .  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  25 
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COURT:  I t  might be –  and basic condit ions of  Employment Act 

and. 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I t  real ly appears to have been ra ised in the 

context  of  the appl icant saying he was general ly speaking 

unhappy with the way in which he was treat ed.  Some of  that 5 

unhappiness is due to features which he says amount to 

d iscr iminat ion,  other he is unhappy because he is unhappy.  

And I  do not,  my respectfu l  submission,  i t  is  not  –  i f  i t  is  not  a 

c la im for d iscr iminat ion then i t  is  not  something which th is 

court  needs to decide in th is case because whether or not he 10 

was asked to come in at  5:00 or 6:00 in the morning to hand 

out newspapers –  a l though he may point  out  in reply that  

exact ly what he has pleaded is that he was to ld to do those 

th ings because he was being picked on because who he was.  

And if  that  is h is case I  have an answer to that  as wel l ,  is  that  15 

as a matter of  evidence he has not come close to showing that 

the real  reason why he was asked to assist in the launch of  

People‟s Post lay in d iscr iminat ion of  any sort .  

 Then the next  leg is the fa i lure to renew …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  I  have got the legs.   The only issue for me was in  20 

fact  …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Okay, a l l  r ight .  

COURT:  And i t  has become quite c lear now, so just  wher e 

harassment f i t ted in and what I  understand your argument to 

be is that  the al legat ion at  4.4.3 had nothing to do with the 25 
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c la im under sect ion 6 of  the EEA to the extent  that  he might 

state that  the harassment was targeted because of  h is pol i t ical 

bel iefs  and his re l igious views.  You say there is no evidence, 

he led no evidence of  that .  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.   I  th ink also what has become clear to 5 

me now, which was not c lear to me when we f i led th is 

amended statement of  defence, was based on certa in 

assumpt ions that we were making about what the case was 

about because we could not  qui te work out  f rom th is,  but 

having read th is and having heard the evidence I  now 10 

understand what the pleaded case is and I  concede that  some 

of  the assumpt ions that  we made in ou r amended statement of  

defence where we made certa in supposit ions about what h is 

case was now appear to have been wrong.  I  mean, to give one 

example is the issue of  d iscr iminat ion against  Is lamic cul ture, 15 

which is  referred to in the referra l ,  but  is not  p art  of  the case 

before th is court and has not been dealt  wi th and has not 

p leaded, so we do not need to deal with i t .  

COURT:  In any event,  i t  does not –  does i t  fa l l  under sect ion 6 

of  the Employment Equity Act?  Because …(intervent ion)   20 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  My submission is we do not 

…(intervent ion)   

COURT:  I t  has to be discr iminat ion against  the appl icant.   The 

fact  that  …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  My submission is we do not –  there is no 25 
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point  in going there because you can say a lot  of  th ings in your 

referra l  to the CCMA and on subsequent ref lect ion you can 

decide look,  th is is the case that  I  actual ly want to vent i late.  

Some of  these issues, I  have ra ised a whole lot  of  issues when 

I  made my referra l ,  but  I  do not want to take al l  of  those to the 5 

labour court .   These are the ones I  am taking to the labour 

court .  

COURT:  Okay, so in fact  the al legat ion about –  a l though i t  

appears throughout the pleadings –  was in i t ia l ly in the CCMA 

referra l ,  but  not ,  but  certa in ly not  included in the statement of  10 

case? 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  not  only is i t  not  included in the 

statement of  case, i t  has not been part  of  the evidence 

…(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Of the evidence.  15 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Evidence, so when you are deal ing with an 

unrepresented person –  f i rst ly one bears in mind though that 

th is p leading was in fact  draf ted by a lawyer,  so i t  is  not a 

p leading draf ted by –  but  when you are deal ing with an 

unrepresented person I  suppose you can say:   Look,  i t  may not 20 

be expl ic i t ly  stated in the pleading,  but  where i t  is  c lea r ly part 

of  h is case –  which we infer f rom the evidence which we led –  

then in ef fect  we wi l l  amend his p leadings or help h im to 

amend his p leadings and I am saying there was not evidence 

about those issues, so we do not need to go there.  25 
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COURT:  Wel l ,  he did make, he did in fact in h is evidence say 

that  th is was evidence of  d iscr iminat ion,  the re ject ion of  those 

two pieces -  I  mean, the one piece is only a paragraph –  and 

without put t ing any words in h is mouth,  that  might be evidence, 

part  of  the sort  of  evident ia l  p icture that  he is t rying to bui ld 5 

around the discr iminatory prof i le  of  the respondent,  so i t  might 

have that  factual  re levance, but  as a matter of  –  and yes,  i t  is 

a statement made by the appl icant in h is evidence.  I  do 

remember h im saying that .   But in any event,  l is ten,  we do not 

…(intervent ion)   10 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Let  us put  i t  th is way, some of  that  stuf f  

may fa l l  in to the category of  what one would say would be 

some of  the fact  evidence in the sense that  because these 

people discr iminate general ly …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Yes. 15 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  There is lots of  evidence about histor ical  

d iscr iminat ion.   There is lots of  evidence or purported 

evidence about other contemporaneous discr iminat ion, but  i t  is 

not „ the‟ .   So i t  is  dealt  wi th at  the leve l  o f  evidence that  is not 

part  of  the cause of  act ion and I  th ink also one must a lso bear 20 

in mind here that  the –  because of  d i f f icul t ies a pre -tr ia l  was 

held chaired by a Judge and because one of  the problems that 

any employer in a d iscr iminat ion case obv iously need to know 

what is the ambit of  what i t  is  that you need to deal with in 

court ,  what evidence must you put up to deal with the 25 
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a l legat ion,  so there is in fact  a d irect ive that  gives an appl icant 

a further chance to e laborate on what exact ly are th e grounds 

and you wi l l  see in the pleadings there is a pract ice note on 

cases with d iscr iminat ion which obl iges an appl icant,  Judge‟s 

direct ions.   I t  is  page 52 of  the pleadings.  So there are a 5 

ser ies of  quest ions and answers that  both part ies must deal 

with.  

COURT:  Yes, no,  I  have got that .  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  M‟Lord ,  I  do not  –  paragraphs 1 through to 

19 real ly just  canvas the evidence which is wel l -known to Your 10 

Lordship.   I  do not real ly want to –  i t  is  the chronology of  the 

signi f icant facts.   Maybe I  mus t just  h ighl ight  the issues that I  

am going to …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Maybe just  h ighl ight  the ones you wish to 

…(intervent ion)   15 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  … to dwel l  on later,  that  paragraph 9: 

“Because i t  was the launch date staf f  asked to volunteer 

to arr ive ear ly for d istr ibut ion to ( indist inct)  t raf f ic.   

Appl icant was involved in d istr ibut ing newspapers in 

Grassy Park f rom approximately 06h00 to approximately 20 

08h30.  These working hours are highly unusual because 

i t  was the launch of  the publ icat ion.  The edito r ia l  team 

moved to Tokai on or about 10 May 2006.  This was his 

f i rst  exposure to the actual  product ion of  the newspaper 

as compared to being t ra ined on a system.  I t  was soon 25 
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not iced that  he was unable to lay out  copy at  the 

standard to be expected f rom someone with the level  of  

ski l l  and experience that had been cla imed by him in h is 

CV.  For example the art ic le in respondent ‟s.”  

COURT:  Ja,  okay.  5 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Etcetera,  etcetera.   We dealt  wi th that 

yesterday,  the open spaces that  Dean test i f ied were b elow the 

required standard.  Paragraph 13 deals then with the Dludlu 

art ic le and the evidence of  Dean and the concessions and I 

made the point f i rst ly he cannot d ispute that  Dean‟s concerns 10 

–  even on his own version he cannot d ispute that Dean‟s 

concerns were legi t imate nor was i t  put  to her that  her t rue 

mot ives for cr i t ic is ing the piece were due to racism.   

“The l ine of  cross -examinat ion ( indist inct)  that  any 

defects in the art ic le were caused by the paper being 15 

under resourced and therefore i t  was unfai r  to cr i t ic ise 

him.”  

 In other words you wi l l  recal l  the:   How can I  be expected 

to be a journal ist ,  a sub -editor, to do the ver i f icat ion,  a l l  the 

checking in th is k ind of  context ,  therefore i t  is  unfair  to 20 

cr i t ic ise me for l i f t ing stuf f  f rom the internet,  you know, i f  you 

had given me a t icket  to f ly to Johannesburg and I  can go and 

interview people,  that  l ine of  cross –  i t  was not said.   There is 

no basis for cr i t ic ism or val id basis for cr i t ic ism of  th is art ic le 

and your t rue reason for sending me out on  th is has to do with 25 
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racia l  prof i l ing.  

 Then the Robbie Jansen art ic le and let  us get  to 

paragraph 15:  

“Dean was concerned about running the art ic le without 

further ver i f icat ion.   The reference to a warning made to 5 

Jansen by his producer not to ta lk to the  press was of  

concern, especia l ly in the l ight  of  …(intervent ion) ”  

COURT :   Ja,  that  is yesterday‟s evidence.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  That is yesterday‟s evidence.  

COURT:  Very f resh.  10 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  And that  the use of  the F word and so on 

and so forth,  yesterday‟s evidence.  Again,  paragraph 16, 

yesterday‟s evidence, the withdrawal of  the art icle,  the 

meeting with Tal jaard,  what appl icant said at  the meet ing,  the 

circumstances under which he was asked to leave the 15 

premises.   Then just  moving on then to the law, I  set  out  –  th is 

is using the recent judgment of  Judge Van Niekerk in 

Mangena, of  which I  have a copy here.  

 M‟Lord ,  th is judgment is part icular ly useful  because i t  is  

a c la im under the Employment Equity Act  and the –  one cannot 20 

merely go to the cla ims board  under the Labour Relat ions Act 

which deal with automat ical ly unfair  d ismissals or unfair  wage 

cla ims and i t  does not –  I  just  say as a note of  caut ion that 

when deal ing with the Employment Equity Act  one must be 

astute to what is actual ly said in the word s of  that  Act  about 25 
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what k ind of  d iscr iminat ion we are deal ing with and I  wi l l  a lso 

deal with –  there is a provis ion –  I  do not  know i f  anything 

turns on i t  in this case –  deal ing with presumpt ions and 

onuses.   

 So the basic legs are,  22.1:  5 

“You must establ ish the dif ferent iat ion that  forms the 

basis of  the cla im.  You must establ ish a causal l ink 

between that d if ferent iat ion and one of  the l is ted grounds 

or an unl isted ground.”  

 The unl isted grounds are not  re levant for purposes of  this 10 

case.   

“The mere existence of  d i f ferent  t reatment of  people,  for 

example dif ferent races,  are not d iscr iminat ion on the 

grounds of  race unless dif ference in race is the reason 

for the disparate treatment.  Put d if ferent ly the appl icant 15 

must prove that  his d i f ferent  t reatmen t, for example his 

lower salary,  is because of  h is race or h is re l igion 

etcetera,  etcetera.”  

 Next leg then is i f  he establ ishes that  the conduct 

amounts to d iscr iminat ion. The next issue to be determined is 20 

whether i t  is  unfair  d iscr iminat ion.   And, M‟Lord, you wi l l  see 

later I  am submit t ing we do not get  that  far.  In th is case i t  is 

not  necessary for the Court to get involved in establ ishing 

whether there has been unfair  d iscr iminat ion because there is 

actual ly no evidence that  would lead one to f ind that  there is 25 
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prima facie  evidence of  d iscr iminat ion which –  and then we go 

onto the next  step to see whether i t  is  unfair  d iscr iminat ion.  

COURT:  But the appl icant –  I  mean, he stated that , I  mean 

stated in h is evidence and when he put quest ions to Ms Dean, 

the thrust  of  the quest ioning was that  there is a pol icy,  an 5 

hours of  work pol icy,  which is premised on the Christ ian 

calendar in that  i t  is  Monday to Fr iday and that  that  calendar 

changes in a part icular newspaper, the product ion cycle,  so 

when they create  a product ion cycle –  that  is the contractual 

basis.   Then –  which he signs on and which does not conf l ict  10 

with,  as I  understand i t ,  i f  work ends at –  I  do not know when 

Shabbat begins,  is i t  s ix o ‟c lock in the evening?   Okay, is i t ,  

Mr Kahanovitz?  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I  am not an expert  on i t ,  M‟Lord ,  because 

…(intervent ion)   15 

COURT:  Okay, oh sorry.   Al l  r ight ,  so just  assume that i t  does 

not start  before six,  but  even on that  basic structure of  e ight 

hours a day,  f ive days a week, an employee can be cal led on 

to work overt ime on Friday which would then, as I  understand 

i t ,  up to three hours,  which would then conf l ict  wi th Shabbat, 20 

so even on the contractual  model.  Then on the product ion 

cycle for People‟s Post i tself  was that ,  as I  understood i t ,  you 

started on Wednesday and you worked through Friday,  

Saturday and then Monday, Sunday, Monday.  Now that 

product ion cycle,  he suggests,  seems to me he suggests,  that 25 
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that  pract ice or –  has the ef fect  of  af fect ing or contravening 

his or requir ing him to work contrary  to h is re l igious bel iefs.  

So then …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes,  yes.  

COURT:  But let  me just  f in ish the argument so that 5 

…(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Ja,  I  am sorry.  

COURT:  So that  you can address me on i t .   Then I  understand 

that  to mean if  that  is,  i f  that  case is demonstrated then i t  

seems to me that  the respondent has to demonstrate why i t  is  10 

fa ir .   In other words even imposing that might st i l l  be fa ir .   So 

there is a residual fa irness issue that  may have to be 

addressed.  I t  may not have  to be addressed factual ly.   The 

quest ion is i f  h is al legat ions are correct  on that  there is st i l l  –  

there may be an issue on fa irness.  15 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  M‟Lord ,  wi th respect, yes,  but not on his 

case because –  and I  deal with that  at  paragraph 31 and 

fo l lowing …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Okay, a l l  r ight ,  wel l ,  le t  us deal with i t  then.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Should we deal with i t  then or now?  20 

COURT:  Deal i t  –  I  do not  want to interrupt  your –  I  just  –  I  

suppose I am just  asking these issues …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes,  no,  I  understand the issue, M‟Lord ,  

and I  deal with i t .   Paragraph 26, I  just  ment ioned the wording 

of  sect ion 11 of  the EEA which has always confused and 25 
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t roubled me and I  –  because i t  says under the heading „burden 

of  proof ‟ :  

“Whenever unfa i r  d iscr iminat ion is a l leged in terms of  

th is Act  the employer against  whom the al legat ion is 

made must establ ish that  i t  is  fa ir . ”  5 

 And Grogan apt ly descr ibes i t  as a part icular ly i l l -

phrased provis ion because i t  suggests in conf l ict  wi th what 

was held in  Harksen, that i t  is  the respondent who must prove 

f rom the outset  that  the discr iminat ion is fa ir .   And as opposed 

to what Harksen said is that  once di f ferent t reatment which is 10 

l inked to the prohib i ted ground has been proved by the 

appl icant then, only then, must the employer have to prove 

that  i t  is  unfair .   So in other words –  sorry,  that  is fa ir .   The 

problem in sect ion 11 is …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Is you might never get  to the quest ion of  fa irness 15 

because i t  might never be discr iminat ion.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes,  but  the wording of  the Act is –  i t  says:  

“Whenever unfair  d iscr iminat ion is a l leged.”  

 So i t  seems to suggest that  a mere al legat ion in a 

p leading t r iggers a burden of  proof  to …(intervent ion)   20 

COURT:  On fa irness.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  To prove unfai rness and …(intervent ion)   

COURT :   But don‟t  you discharge that  burden if  you –  you do 

not have to d ischarge the burden if  you do not prove 

discr iminat ion.  25 
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MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  I  th ink that  is the logical  way of  t rying 

to …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Is that  not  the way of  t rying to understand i t?  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Of  reading the sect ion and I  submit  in 

footnote 12 that  that  is the way in which Judge Van Niekerk 5 

appears to have appl ied i t  in  Mangena.  Because there he held 

that :  

“ In the absence of  the product ion  of  suf f ic ient  evidence 

of  d if ferent  t reatment because of  race absolut ion wi l l  be 

granted and the employer wi l l  have no case to meet.”  10 

 In other words he did not  say:  I  can‟t  give you absolut ion 

because you have st i l l  got  to come along and show under 

sect ion 11 that  the al leged discr iminat ion,  which I  do not f ind 

to be proved, is fa ir .   So i t  is  just  –  I  th ink i t  is  inelegant ly 

phrased and therefore confusing.  15 

COURT:  I  have not –  i t  may be that th is case does not have to 

ra ise issues of  burden of  proof ,  bu t what do you th ink the –  

what is the ef fect  of  the burden of  proof  provis ions in P EPUDA, 

in the Promot ion of  Equal i ty Prohib i t ion (sic)  of  Unfair  

Discr iminat ion Act?  Where i t  says that , where i t  sets out a 20 

much more detai led shif t ing onus or shi f t ing burd en of  proof, 

that  once you have proved discr iminat ion then the employer is 

obl iged to prove that  i t  was not d iscr iminat ion and then only 

then do you get to the quest ion of  fa irness.   I t  is  qui te a 

separate issue.  Have you appl ied your mind to i t  at a l l?  25 
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MR KAHANOVITZ:  I  d id not  come prepared to deal with that, 

M‟Lord ,  and anything I  say would not be of  much assistance to 

Your Lordship.  

COURT:  No, I  mean, I  agree, sect ion 11 is problemat ic and I 

wondered if  –  and i t  may not be re levant,  so.  5 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I f  Your Lordship accepts my pr imary 

submission we do not …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  You do not need …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  We are not  going to get  there.  

COURT:  Yes. 10 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Okay, then I  deal under separate heading 

with employment pol icy  or pract ice and that  is re levant 

because that is real ly the feature which dist inguishes the 

Employment Equity Act  f rom other legis lat ive acts which 

prohib i t  d iscr iminat ion.   And I  point  out  there is some debate 15 

as to whether a single event can ever const i tute a pol icy or 

pract ice.    There is however no debate that  the cla ims under 

the EEA, the pol icy or pract ice must re late to the t reatment of  

the cla imant qua  employee.   

“ I t  is  accordingly submit ted f rom the outset  that the 20 

pol i t ical  grandstanding that  the appl icant has engaged in 

regarding the respondent ‟s h istory is of  no re levance to 

these proceedings.   His object ive appears to have been 

to tar and feather the respondent.   This then serves as a 

bui ld ing block for the spurious argument that  because a 25 
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corporat ion supported the discr iminat ion in the past i t  

must surely fo l low that  i t  would cont inue to th is day to do 

so,  so much so that i t  forces al l  of  i ts employees, 

including the appl icant,  to perpetuate the pol ic ies of  

Apartheid.”  5 

 And I  th ink part of  the  argument,  i f  I  understand i t ,  is i t  

must fo l low because i t  d id so in the past .   And th is must be so, 

so the argument must then, there is a word missing there,  run.  

“Also in the case of  People‟s Post,  a smal l  community 

based t i t le ,  taken over by the respondent many years 10 

af ter the defeat of  Apartheid.   The only way, so i t  was 

argued, that th is chain of  shame could ever be broken 

was through the r i tual  purging of  the corporat ion via the 

TRC.  My submission is the argument only needs to be 

stated to real ise that  i t  is  r id iculous,  least of  a l l  was 15 

there proof  that  racia l  prof i l ing was implemented as an 

employment pol icy or pract ice at  People‟s Post.  The 

editor ‟s denial  that  such pract ices do not exist  were not 

ser iously chal lenged by the appl icant.   I t  is  so th at he 

came to bel ieve that h is work could only have been 20 

re jected for th is reason, but  that  only te l ls one that  the 

appl icant is a person who is persistent  and stubborn in 

his denial  of  real i ty. ”  

 So, M‟Lord ,  i f  he cannot prove the existence of  a policy 

or a pract ice in respect of  racia l  prof i l ing he has no case under 25 



MR KAHANOVITZ 
C 8 8 / 2 0 0 7  

477 ADDRESS 

 

21.01.2010/15:11-16:50/LL / . . .  

the EEA and then you would not get  –  because the next 

quest ion that  then ar ise,  i f  you prove the existence of such a 

pol icy or pract ice, the next  quest ion would be:  In what way 

does i t  af fect  you as an employee?  This company, whatever, 

sel ls arms to,  into c ivi l  wars.   Okay,  that  you say is a noxious 5 

pol icy or pract ice and then you wi l l  say:   Wel l ,  I  am a paci f ist.  I  

work for th is company. They force me to –  but  f i rst  you would 

need to show the existence of  some sort  of  employment -

re lated pol icy or pract ice that  is d iscr iminatory and then move 

onto how i t  actual ly impacts on you as a worker.  10 

 The Act cannot be that  th is Court  is going to be pol ice 

the commercia l  moral i ty of  a l l  corporat ions unl ess and unt i l  

somebody can come along and actual ly show that  this is an 

employment pol icy and pract ice,  not  that  the company does 

horr ib le th ings or not  merely.    15 

COURT:  Just  on –  assuming i t ,  wel l ,  okay,  let  us say i t  is  a 

pol icy or pract ice.  The quest i on then is to be an employment 

pol icy or pract ice,  yet  i t  has to be l inked to one of  those 

matters l is ted.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  Includes, but  –  so.   I  mean one for 20 

example is job assignments,  promot ion,  etcetera,  etcetera.   So 

i t  has a pract ice …(intervent ion)  

COURT:  So working environment ( indist inct) .  So job 

assignments.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  W ith respect,  I  do not th ink –  again,  th is 25 
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does not ar ise in th is case, but  i t  is  a potent ia l ly d i f f icul t  

provis ion to apply in cases outside of  –  the restaurant refuses 

to a l low me to serve black customers.   I  mean that  case is not 

d i f f icul t  to deal with,  but  there are other issues that  one could 

imagine where people with a part icular set  of  bel iefs would say 5 

that  what a corporat ion does is t reats d i f ferent  k inds of  peop le 

di f ferent ly and therefore the Court  must hold that  by tel l ing i ts  

employees to make whatever i t  is ,  poor people standing longer 

queues than r ich people or whatever the example is that  one 

could come up with,  that that  is conduct prohib i ted under the 10 

Employment Equity Act .  

 I f  you work in a large commercia l  law f i rm you would say 

that  the fees that  you are forced to charge prohib i t  most 

members of  the populat ion f rom having access to or to legal 

services and therefore you wish to be able to charge a quart er 15 

of  what that  large commercia l  law f i rm insisted you charge.  I  

th ink –  I  am not sure that  th is Court  should get  involved in 

those sorts of  controversies.   Rel igious discr iminat ion –  the 

quest ion of  working hours that  d iscr iminate against ,  i t  is 

paragraph 31: 20 

“Members of  minori ty re l igious groupings is yet  to be 

considered in our courts.   I t  is  respectfu l ly submit ted that  

given the case pleaded by the appl icant i t  is  unnecessary 

to dwel l  at  any length on the complex foreign law on the 

subject .   A part icular s igni f icant case is that  he al leges 25 
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d irect  d iscr imination.   In part icular he al leges the 

fo l lowing:  Respondent was aware that  the appl icant was 

Jewish and that  the above work week would prevent h im 

f rom observing part icular cul tural ,  Jewish cul tural  

expressions such as Shabbat.”  5 

 Now there are factua l ,  there are legs to that c la im and 

my submission is that  –  and then the other one is that ,  you 

know, he was prevented f rom expressing his cul tural  l i fe as a 

person of  Jewish descent in that  he was forced to  work seven 

day weeks.  And the answer to those cla ims is that  the factual 10 

averments re l ied upon him to support  h is c la im are simply not 

t rue and th is leg of  h is c la im must therefore be dismissed on 

the basis a lone.   

 Because you wi l l  recal l  I  referred Your Lordship in the 

absolut ion argument to Canadian case law on th is issue.  Al l  15 

those cases on rereading them, they adverse impact indirect 

d iscr iminat ion cases where the employer says:   These hours 

are universal ly appl ied in respect of a l l  employees.  The  case 

is then brought that  the employee said:   Wel l ,  i f  you apply 

those ordinary working hours in my case, because I am Jewish 20 

or a Seventh-day Advent ist  or whatever i t  is ,  I  wi l l  not  be able 

to at tend services or i t  wi l l  of fend my rel igious bel iefs.  And 

then the Court  does not get  involved in –  they are not brought 

as cases of  a direct  d iscr iminat ion,  for obvious reasons, 

because i t  wi l l  be a rare day where you wi l l  have facts where i t  25 
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can be said that the employer del iberately structured i ts 

working hours in order to prevent members of  var ious minori ty 

groupings f rom being able to observe their  re l igious and 

cul tural  pract ices.  

 And I  th ink that  what Your Lordship was al luding to,  in 5 

the context  of  that  sort  of  case you may then –  the employer 

may then be required to show or is then required to show 

under the Canadian case law what steps i t  took to reasonably 

accommodate the needs of  the employee short  of  undue 

hardship.   That is the Canadian test .   What an employee then 10 

pleads in that  case is:  I  went to t hem. I  said to them I  have 

now become a Seventh -day Advent ist .  I  was not when I  started 

and therefore I  now have a di f f iculty work ing on a Saturday. 

Can I  have Saturdays of f?  

 And then the case concerns whether or not  the employee 15 

has done what the law requires of  i t  to at tempt to, to 

endeavour to meet …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  To accommodate …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes,  to accommodate that  person.  

COURT:  To accommodate the employee without undue 20 

hardship to the employer.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  But that  is not the appl icant ‟s case.  These 

obl igat ions cannot ar ise out  of  the air .   I t  requires –  and again 

I  do not even necessari ly want to get  involved in that  debate.   I  

would say let  us look at  what he says happened. What he says 25 
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–  and he repeated that  again  yesterday when he was cross -

examining Annel ien Dean –  he put  i t  to her under cross -

examinat ion,  he asked her:   Did you change the product ion 

cycle to cut  into Shabbat because of  conf l icts in the 

newsroom?  That is in paragraph 37.  In paragraph 36 I  point  5 

out :  

“His case is that  the employer intent ional ly t reated him 

dif ferent ly because he was Jewish.”  

 Again I  go back to the wording of  h is p leadings:  

“Was aware that  the appl icant was Jewish and that  the 10 

above work week would prevent h im f rom observing 

Shabbat.”  

 So that  is the case before Your Lordship and i t  is  s imply 

answered on the facts.   They were not aware that  he was 

Jewish and secondly there is absolute ly not  a shred of  15 

evidence to suggest that  even if  they had been aware that  he 

was Jewish that  they al tered his working hours in order to cut 

into h is observance of  the Sabbath and in e i ther event,  as I  

point  out  later,  th is case is a construct ion that  has been 

invented to  –  in  order to push certa in emot ive but tons .  20 

 The appl icant ‟s ordinary working h ours would not  actual ly 

have af fected his abi l i ty to at tend synagogue on a Fr iday 

evening because his ordinary working –  i t  is  only,  i t  was only 

unusual overt ime that  had any impact whatsoever.   So to come 

to court  –  i f  Your Lordship has to just  –  imagine hypothet ical ly 25 
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what would have happened in a company such as Media 24 if  

an employee comes along and says:   Look here,  p lease, i f  

there is going to be unusual overt ime in the future, I  am a 

Jewish person.  I  need to go to synagogue on Friday evening. 

Please make sure that  I  am not asked ever to work beyond 5 

point  X because i t  of fends my rel igious bel iefs.  

 You would not  have any case in court .   Every large 

corporat ion in South Af r ica has got many people of  mult i  

fa i ths,  Musl ims who need to take hours of f  on Fr iday to at tend 

mosque etcetera,  etcetera,  etcetera.  These cases do not –  i t  10 

is a rare employer that  at  that  point  turns around and says:  No, 

you know, go and hop.  I  am not going to do anything to t ry 

and accommodate you.  So to make a big song and danc e 

about two nights on which you worked excessive overt ime in 

c ircumstances where you did not  even go to te l l  the edi tor that 15 

th is was a problem very much points to a case that  has been 

invented af ter the fact in order to al low the appl icant to push 

certa in  emot ive but tons.  

 I  pointed out in paragraph 38:  

“The appl icant is c lear ly a hypocri te who when i t  sui ted 20 

him was content to use staf f  t ransport  to vis i t  a jazz club 

to do work on a Fr iday night .   When i t  sui ts h im he is 

var iously mult icast ,  a Phi losemite  and/or of  Orthodox 

background and much else besides.   He is self -def ines 

how and when he wi l l  observe the Sabbath and his c laims 25 
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on th is leg are a subsequent fabr icat ion where he sought 

to p lay the ant i -Semit ism card,  an emot ive but ton to push 

in pursuing his vendetta against  h is former employer.”  

 And if  Your Lordship looks at  some of  those internet 

post ings that  I  put  to the appl icant in cross -examinat ion,  the 5 

themes, the campaign that  he launched before he came to 

court  is the themes that  he has pursued  in order to at tempt to 

capture the publ ic imaginat ion has been –  the one is the chain 

of  showing D F Malan Apartheid and th is is a company that  is 

l ike that  and other is in the same breath and consistent  with 10 

having been inspired by the ideology of  Adolph Hit ler,  th is is a 

company that  unto th is day persecutes Jews.  

 His let ter to the Jewish Board of  Deput ies states –  that  is 

the one he did not d iscover,  M‟Lord  –  that  h is c la im is str ict ly 

speaking not about the Sabbath nor do we submit  is i t  even 15 

broadly speaking about the Sabbath.   So there was no 

obl igat ion on the employer on these facts to come along to 

lead evidence about why i t  as a newspaper might need to 

require staf f  to work hours that might impact upon the abi l i ty of  

people of  certa in re l igious views or  cul tures or so on to be 20 

able to –  that  would be,  M‟Lord ,  in another case at  another 

t ime if  one was presented by a factual  matr ix where somebody 

who was required to work at  Die Burger on a Sunday because 

Die Burger comes out on a Monday says:   I  can not work on a 

Sunday because of  my deep Christ ian bel iefs.   Can you 25 
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reasonably accommodate that?  And the employer says:   No, I  

am sorry.  I  am going to have to f i re you or retrench you 

because i t  is  an essent ia l  operat ion requirement.  

 Then we would come a long and say th is is how the 

newspaper industry works and so on and so forth and that  is 5 

why even were you to f ind that  Christ ians who are forced to 

work on Sundays are being dif ferently t reated f rom Jews who 

are forced to work on Sundays and therefore tha t  is prima 

facie  d iscr iminat ion.   I t  is  not  unfair d iscr iminat ion because it  

is  just i f ied by the operat ional requirements of  the newspaper 10 

business. 

 We did not  present such a case because in our 

submission we were not required to.   Then the fa i lure to ren ew 

his f ixed term contract :  

“Whi le a s ingle fa i lure to renew  a f ixed term contract 15 

could be arr ived at  an unfair  d ismissal c la im under the 

Employment Equity Act  here the complainant would need 

to show the existence of  a pol icy or a pract ice.  This 

would suggest the need to demonstrate the existence of  

some discr iminatory pol icy or  pract ice in fa i l ing to renew 20 

the employment contracts of  some or other vulnerable 

grouping in society.   Even on the appl icant ‟s own version 

he can point  to only a s ingle non -renewal involv ing 

himself  only.   There is thus no evidence of  an 

employment pol icy or pract ice.”  25 



MR KAHANOVITZ 
C 8 8 / 2 0 0 7  

485 ADDRESS 

 

21.01.2010/15:11-16:50/LL / . . .  

 And I  th ink again here must –  what is the purpose of  th is 

Act?  I t  is  to deal with d iscr iminat ion and I  th ink that  is one of  

the reasons why i t  says –  i t  does not say any single aggrieved 

individual who has had a once of f  non -renewal of  h is contract 

can come along and cla im that what the Court is being 5 

presented with is a pol icy or a pract ice where people who are 

members of  vulnerable groupings in society tend to be badly 

t reated by th is employer.   

 I  mean the case that one would imagine would be 

presented is more that  there were f ive people where the 10 

employer had to consider whether their  contract  should be 

renewed.  Al l  the people who were members of  the NGK  had 

their  contracts renewed and lo and behold none of  the Jews .  

This points to a pol icy or pract ice of  preferr ing members of  the 

NGK over Jewish people.   That sort  of  case.  15 

COURT:  But h is a l legat ion is that  there is racia l  prof i l ing 

pol icy and that  that  –  the appl icat ion of  that  pol icy had the 

ef fect  that  they would remove him because of  h is pol i t ical  

bel iefs.   They were contrary to the company‟s pol icy and for 

that  reason they dismissed him.  Al l  r ight ,  I  am using –  the 20 

word dismissal is used in that  l is t ,  but  remember i t  is  not  an 

exhaust ive l is t  and analogist  grounds would c lear ly include a 

fa i lure to renew the contract .  I  th ink i f  you took employment 

pract ice you could say including and then i t  says dismissal at  

the every end. I  think i t  would ( indist inct)  to  say a non-renewal 25 
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would const i tute the employment part of  a pol icy or pract ice.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  the phrase I  have used in the heads 

is to say –  he in essence says:   I  was forced out of  the 

organisat ion.  And I th ink that could fa l l  under the 

…(intervent ion)   5 

COURT:  And he is forced out because, he says,  of  the broad 

racia l  prof i l ing pol icy,  a l l  of  which is subject  to then whether 

he has proved that  or not,  but assuming that  he has 

…(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  he says he –  yes.  10 

COURT:  But assuming that  he has –  is  that  not a pol icy or is 

that  not a pol icy or pract ice?  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  what he says is:  I  was forced out 

because I  hold, essent ia l ly he says:   Because I  hold 

progressive views.   I  bel ieve in non -racia l ism. I  don‟t  accept 15 

the –  what he says then: I  am not a member of  the NGK .   And 

you are supposed to then make the l ink that  i f  you are 

therefore i t  must fo l low that  you are a racist .   But i f  you are 

going to show the existence of  such a pol icy –  what I  am 

submitt ing is that i t  i s  unl ikely,  factual ly unl ikely that  i t  is 20 

appl ied in the case of  one individual only,  because a pol icy –  

there is a d if ference between saying –  I  can understand what 

Your Lordship –  there is obviously a b i t  of  ( indist inct) ,  but  a 

pol icy is not  something that  tends to be uniquely evolved and 

appl ied in the case of  one individual only.   A pol icy –  there wi l l  25 
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–  you would tend to have to produce evidence about a pattern 

of  behaviour.   You say:   Wel l ,  why do you say these people 

have such a pol icy of  not  –  by renewing the f ixed term 

contracts of  such.  Because in my case and that  case and in 

the other case …(intervent ion)   5 

COURT:  Ja,  that  is the pattern.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes,  yes,  the pattern.  

COURT:  That proves the pol icy –  that  is an inference i f  you do 

not actual ly have a document which states the pol icy.   But you 

know that  th is harks back to the whole issue as to when one 10 

part icular act could const i tute an unfair  labour pract ice in the 

industr ia l  court .  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  

COURT:  There they use the word pract ice. 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  15 

COURT:  And the problem is what happens if  th is is the f i rst 

t ime?  Does i t  mean that you al low a pol icy of  ant i -Semit ism to 

operate for four or f ive t imes and those people have no cla im 

and i t  is  only on the sixth appl icant …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes, no,  I  understand Your Lordship‟s 20 

problem. 

COURT:  So the issue is that , what you are ra is ing though, 

that i t  is  easier to infer a pol icy or pract ice where there has 

been a pat tern,  but  i t  does not mean that  you cannot inf er a 

pol icy or pract ice f rom one single incident.  25 
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MR KAHANOVITZ:  No, I  am one hundred percent in agreement 

with Your Lordship and …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  So he has a harder case to demonstrate than 

…(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  You have, yes,  because you are just  an 5 

isolated single individual.  Where is the pract ice as opposed to 

they do not l ike you?  Because if  i t  is  not  about you, but  i t  is 

about Jews, yes,  i t  is  not  inconceivable that  only you got 

s ingled out i f  i t  is about Jews, but  i t  is  far more unl ikely.   So 

paragraph 40 –  so that  is the one version,  that  people who 10 

oppose transformat ion get routed out of  the organisat ion.   As 

against  th is one has the evidence of the edi tor,  which is s imply 

to the ef fect  that  the appl icant behaved badly,  performe d 

poorly and for these reasons he was informed that  h is contract 

would not  be renewed and that  he should leave the workplace 15 

forthwith.   

 So the Court  has to decide which of  those versions i t  is  

going to bel ieve.   There is a lso no evidence of  a pat tern of  

conduct and we have discussed th is.   I  have also already dealt  

wi th the issue of  whether the concept of  reasonable 20 

expectat ion is of  any re levance, but  in so far that  he has 

al leged i t  we say there is absolute ly no evidence that  he could 

have held any reasonable expectat ion.  

COURT:  Wel l ,  except, okay yes,  wel l  except that the contract 

i tsel f  refers to renewal.  25 
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MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  i t  is on his version,  M‟Lord ,  i t  is  a 

f raudulent  fabr icat ion.  

COURT:  No, no,  I  –  no,  wel l ,  I  mean, he re l ied on the contract 

yesterday in the cross-examinat ion of Ms Dean.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  5 

COURT:  Both in terms of  hours of  work and the job 

descript ion.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Ja. 

COURT:  But –  and real ly i t  is  h is  legal submissions on the 

val id i ty of  the contract ,  but  I  do recol lect  that  there was a 10 

condit ion that  at  a certa in stage they would …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I f  there is, M‟Lord ,  i t  is a very ( indist inct -

speaking away f rom microphone).  

COURT:  Look, I  do not want to comment on th is contract.  

Since they have been wise enough to employ you, you might 15 

…(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes,  the clause says,  M‟Lord ,  3.2,  page 5 

of  respondent ‟s bundle:  

“The employee hereby accept that  he is employed for a 

f ixed term and conf i rms that  he has no expectat ion of  the 20 

contract  of  employment.”  

COURT:  Ja, but  we al l  know –  there are two bases, there are 

two issues here.  The f i rst  of  course is s igning at  the 

beginning.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  25 
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COURT:  At the beginning of  the contract  he cannot have an 

expectat ion of  renewal.   The secon d of  course the expectat ion 

can ar ise thereaf ter.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  

COURT:  And but then you have a look at  3.3,  so having said 5 

there is no expectat ion,  i t  goes immediately on to say any 

negot iat ions regarding the contract  wi l l  take place in the last 

two months of  i ts durat ion.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  But,  M‟Lord ,  again my pr imary submission 

is we do not need to go there,  but  my secondary submission is 10 

th is,  and which is what I  deal with in the heads, is that  what 

happens if  on the f i rst  day you have a legi t imat e basis to 

harbour such an expectat ion,  but  th ings go downhi l l  af ter that.  

I  mean, how can somebody who is cont inuously in t rouble 

during the durat ion of  a f ixed term contract  come and say that 15 

they had a reasonable expectat ion of  renewal on the day that 

af ter a l l  the –  you know, the t roubles have now been going on 

and on and on and eventual ly they say to you:  Not only are we 

not renewing your contract ,  we want you out of  here today 

pronto.   I  mean, how could anyone …(intervent ion)   20 

COURT:  Yes, what you are saying is at  the moment of  

terminat ion of  the contract  …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  

COURT:  You must have the expectat ion.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  25 



MR KAHANOVITZ 
C 8 8 / 2 0 0 7  

491 ADDRESS 

 

21.01.2010/15:11-16:50/LL / . . .  

COURT:  And that expectat ion might have been bui l t  up during 

the –  by statements made by the employer or previously 

renewals.   Al l  of  that  would bui ld up an expectat ion.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  

COURT:  But in a sense your expectat ion is lost i f  you 5 

mater ia l ly breach.  And I  am not referr ing to whether he did or 

d id not  mater ia l ly breach.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  

COURT:  I  am just looking at  th is abstract ly now.  So what you 

are saying to me is that  or arguing is that  the –  i f  there is a 10 

mater ia l  breach, even though you might have had expectat ion 

immediately pr ior to the breach, the breach i tself  terminates or 

would terminate the not ion of  any expectat ion thereaf ter.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  in  the case of  a reasonable person i t  

should.   Let  us put i t  that  way.  15 

COURT:  Ja,  of  course.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes,  because that  then deals with –  

because in the repeated renewal  type cases where you say:   

Where did you get  your expectat ion f rom? Your contract  says 

that  i t  wi l l  never be renewed.  And the guy says:   Yes,  but  I  20 

have had th is contract  seven t imes over again and th is was the 

eighth t ime coming up.  And you say wel l  th at  pat tern of  

behaviour on the part  of  the employer has created an 

expectat ion in my mind that  i t  was going to be renewed.  So 

too i t  must be that behaviour by the employer that  would have 25 
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created an expectat ion that  i t  was not going to be renewed 

must a lso be given value.  

COURT :   And the point  is that  i f  the employee‟s conduct is 

such during the course of  the contract  –  the conduct that  would 

have led to the employee being dismissed would also be 5 

conduct ef fect ively that would ext inguish the expectat ion.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Exact ly,  M‟Lord ,  yes.   I  mean, just  to give 

a s imple example: You employ me and I  h i t  you over the head 

with a basebal l  bat  on day three.  I  mean, i t  would be 

somewhat r id iculous for me to say on day four I  st i l l  had a 10 

reasonable expectat ion  of  renewal.  

COURT:  Ja.   I  never qui te thought of  i t  qui te so clear ly now.  

Now I  understand the –  thank you very much.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Then, M‟Lord ,  the racia l prof i l ing as an 

employment pol icy or pract ice,  i t  is  paragraph 42:  15 

“The case which the appl icant set  out  to establ ish was 

the fo l lowing:  That there is a pol icy that  the content of  

the People‟s Post must perfect ly f i t  the racia l  

demographics of  the readership. The race of  the 

journal ists must also f i t  the racia l  demographics of  the 20 

leadership.   The  Dludlu and Jansen art ic les were re jected 

because they did not  conform with the pol icy of  racia l  

prof i l ing.   The argument is untenable for at  least  the 

fo l lowing reasons:  The f i rst  bui ld ing block is that  the 

newspaper must only publ ish mater ia l  of  interes t  to 25 
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Coloured readers, but  as the edi tor has pointed out,  the 

geographic footpr int  of  the newspaper is not 

homogenous.”  

 So not only d id they not do i t ,  but  why in heaven‟s name 

would they want to do what he says they do.  Then page 19:  5 

“He could not  expla in why, i f  respondent was pract is ing 

th is pol icy,  a white female was chosen by the edi tor who 

then in turn went and employed a white male to wri te 

art ic les about,  on his version,  would then be Coloured 

arts and cul ture.   The appl icant ‟s content ion that :  I . ”  10 

 And that quote is f rom my notes of  h is evidence:  

“ I  wanted to assist  them because I  am coloured –  was a 

feeble attempt to set  up a version consistent  with th is 

thesis.”  

 In other words to h im his thesis only made sense if  he 15 

said that  he was coloured because only Coloureds were used 

to do th is sort of  work,  but  he is however not  a Coloured, but  a 

white male.  

MR LEWIS:  Right  (speaking in an undertone).  

MR KAHANOVITZ:   20 

“Geographic footpr int  wi l l  because of  our h istory of ten 

coincide with o ld group areas.   These communit ies are a 

real i ty.  The stor ies are only of  those of  interest  to the 

community and readership sel ls advert is ing.  So he must 

show not only the existence of  the pol icy,  which we say 25 
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he has fa i led to do,  but  moreover in what way th is pol icy 

af fected him as an employee.  His endeavours to do so 

by cla iming that  h is stor ies were re jected because they 

did not  –  he endeavours to do so by cla iming that they 

were re jected because they did not conform with racist 5 

pol ic ies.   I t  cannot be disputed that  t he edi tor has ra ised 

val id quest ions about the contents of  both art ic les.  His  

own note descr ibes the one art ic le as a vapid p iece 

hast i ly put  together f rom music industry bumph and 

promo mater ia l .  He also does not d ispute that  the edi tor 10 

said to h im that she was concerned about running wi th 

the Jansen quote unt i l  i t  was checked.  The employer‟s 

version is thus simply that  there is no pol icy of  racia l  

prof i l ing and Dean‟s refusal to run the art ic les prepared 

by him were due to legi t imate edi tor ia l  concerns.   Even if  15 

there had been such a pol icy,  which is denied,  there is no 

nexus shown between i t  and the re ject ion of  the art ic les.   

Against  that  one has a fantast ic conspiracy theory 

requir ing the sins of  the fathers to be vis i ted upon every 

edi tor current ly working on any t i t le  fa l l ing under the 20 

contro l  of  the respondent.  On th is argument Dean is an 

automaton programmed to perpetuate the ideologies of  

Verwoerd when decid ing whether to run a story on a 

shark at tack in Fish Hoek.”  

 Right ,  then, M‟Lord ,  on credib i l i ty:  25 
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“ I t  is  respectfu l ly submitted that  Dean was an excel lent 

witness.  On the other hand the appl icant was an 

extremely poor witness whose version is replete with 

inherent contradict ions.   To the extent  that  there is 

conf l ict  between the versions of  the two witnesses, her 5 

version should obviously be preferred.   Ment ion has 

already been made of  some of  the problems in h is 

evidence.  Further problems which I  wish to h ighl ight  are  

as fo l lowing:  1. I f  Dean needed to h ire h im to help her 

fake i t  because of  h is community contacts and struggle 10 

background why would he have been hired to do layout 

and not as a journal ist?  Why would they need to ent ice 

him to wri te at a later stage if  he had been hired so that 

h is byl ine could make the papers credib le in the eyes of  

Coloured people?”  15 

 In other words his version makes absolute ly no sense.  

He says:   They wanted me because my byl ine would buy them 

credib i l i ty in the eyes of  Coloured people.   But we know he 

was not h ired,  on his version,  on his version,  he was not h ir ed 

for –  he was hired to do layout only on his version,  which 20 

would be very strange for them to do i f  they needed to h ire th is 

famous struggle journal ist  to buy them credib i l i ty in the eyes of  

Coloured people.  

COURT:  And that he –  and he cla imed that  he was forced to 

do that .  He was forced …(intervent ion)   25 
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MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  

COURT :   Isn‟ t  one of  h is c la ims that he was forced to provide 

these art ic les? 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  again,  there are two versions there.  

There is the „ I  was forced‟ and then there is „due to the 5 

attract iveness of  Annel ien Dean I  agreed to do i t ‟  and what 

Dean said yesterday was that  she never forced him to do i t .   In 

fact  i f  anything he was terr i f ical ly keen to the extent  that  he –  

so terr i f ical ly keen he kept on bothering her to th e point  of  

d istract ion f rom her work about th is issue.  10 

COURT:  His other –  he did a lso say that  he agreed to do th is 

because i t  would improve his chances of  renewal.  I  th ink he 

did give evidence …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I  th ink he put i t  to the witness that 

…(intervent ion)   15 

COURT:  No, no,  but  he himself  in h is evidence 

…(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Oh, yes,  yes.  

COURT:  Said that.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Al l  r ight ,  then there is h is in i t ia l  refusal to 20 

answer any quest ions under cross -examinat ion unt i l  and 

unless they are put  in wri t ing.  

COURT:  But, mister –  that  is because he did not  understand 

what was required of  h im and so …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I  do not know, M‟Lord .  I  mean, he appears 25 
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to have done considerable reading about the law and an ybody 

who has ever watched any American court  drama wi l l  know 

that  witnesses do not and cannot do that.  You do not need to 

go to get  a BA at  UCT which he has as wel l ,  so. He made 

grandiose cla ims about h is ro le in the l iberat ion struggle.   He 5 

namedropped, he al leged l inks to heroes of  the struggle.   He 

al leged substant ial  inf luence which he had on ANC pol icy and 

he went so far as to wri te up his own biography on Wikipedia 

in which he purported, depicted himself  as a major struggle 

f igure.  And the point  that  I  am making …(intervent ion)   10 

COURT:  Was that part  of  the evidence?  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I t  was put to h im based on the art ic les that 

are at  the back of  the –  oh,  you are ta lk ing about the Wikipedia 

point ,  not  the others?  

COURT:  Ja,  ja.  Okay, wel l ,  just  to an swer me –  the art ic les at 15 

the back.   I  do remember you referr ing to b logs and the l ike.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I t  is at page 76 of  the respondent ‟s bundle. 

I t  is  an art ic le –  i t  was taken of f  by the edi tors of  Wikipedia 

because they,  hm. 

COURT:  Was th is document  ever –  okay,  i t  has been, i t  is 20 

what i t  purports to be.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Let  me see if  I  can f ind –  i t  was put to h im, 

as far as I  recal l ,  that  i t  had been deleted by the edi tors 

because i t  d id not have veri f iable,  any ver i f iable –  the cla ims 

made had no ver i f iable sources.  25 
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MR LEWIS:  And Media 24 delete me and then?  It  is the only 

ver i f iable resource.  

COURT:  Mr Lewis,  are you addressing the Court  or are you 

addressing mister …(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  I  am object ing,  Your Honour.  5 

COURT:  Wel l ,  f i rst  of  a l l  i f  you want to address me you stand 

up. 

MR LEWIS:  Right .  

COURT:  And second …(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  M‟Lord ,  I  object ,  I  object  to the manner in which 10 

th is charade is occurr ing.   I t  is  an absolute charade.  

COURT:  Okay, wel l ,  wi l l  you –  I  have heard  your object ion.   I t  

is  overruled.  Please si t  down. You wi l l  have an opportuni ty to 

reply in due course.   And next  t ime –  the next  t ime you wish to 

address the Court  you stand up and ask for an audience.   Mr 15 

Kahanovitz? 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  M‟Lord ,  I  cannot r ight  now –  maybe we 

should –  I  cannot f ind a note f rom my at torney‟s notes about 

cross-examinat ion where I  cross -examined Mr Lewis on page 

76.  I  know that  I  def in i te ly cross -examined on his c la im for 20 

example that  Nelson Mandela had sold out  in the l iberat io n 

struggle which is at  page 72.  Maybe my at torney can just 

check whether I  in fact  put  that document to h im, but nothing 

much turns on i t ,  so.   M‟Lord ,  unless I  te l l  you that  we found 

the reference maybe in the cross -examinat ion,  maybe one 25 



MR KAHANOVITZ 
C 8 8 / 2 0 0 7  

499 ADDRESS 

 

21.01.2010/15:11-16:50/LL / . . .  

should just  –  i t  is in the bundle,  but  I  am not sure as I  stand 

here now that  there was in fact  cross -examinat ion on i t .   

Al though my memory te l ls me that  there was.  I  wi l l  get  back to 

Your Lordship on that  later i f  we f ind the note.    

“W ild and unfounded al legat ions were made by him in the 5 

media against  not  only the respondent,  but the lying 

I r ishman O‟Rei l ly and Associates.”  

 And that  was put.   The people of  South Af r ica he says  he 

intends suing.   

“Nelson Mandela, who was l i teral ly brainwashed into 10 

ident ifying with h is ja i lors.”  

 Etcetera.   And the footnotes are there of  the documents 

that  he wrote up.    

“The inference that  he appears to wish one to draw is 

that  he is the only person who has not sold out  on his 15 

bel iefs.   He cla ims without foundat ion that  the copy of  h is 

contract and employment p laced before the Court is a 

f raudulent  document.  In c ircumstances where he –  not  

only does he have no evidence to back up th is c la im, but  

there is nothing in the document that  would have served 20 

to advance the respondent ‟s case if  i t  had been 

f raudulent .   He thus makes an accusat ion of  f raud in a 

court  of  law with no basis whatsoever.”  

 And there is ample case law to say that  such baseless 

al legat ions are t reated ser iously.    25 
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“He cla im that  he would have appl ied for a job with the 

TRC, sorry,  with the respondent,  had he known i t  had not 

been exonerated by the TRC is r id iculous.   Al though the 

TRC report  is a publ ic record he said he had not read i t . ”  

 Even though i t  seems to feature signi f icant ly in h is 5 

thought processes.  

“ In e i ther event no journal ist would need to read the TRC 

report  to know something about the history of  Naspers 

and i t  is  obvious that  he appl ied for the job with fu l l  

knowledge of  the history of  the respondent.   When these 10 

contradict ions were pointed out to h im he sai d that  he 

would cont inue to hold onto the bel ief  that  had he known 

that  Naspers had not been given a clean bi l l  of  health by 

the TRC then he would not  have appl ied for the job.  His 

c la im that  he was forced to work a  seven day week was 15 

untrue.  His c la im tha t  he was required to d istr ibute 

newspapers every Tuesday morning was fa lse.   Dean 

test i f ied that  the newspaper is not  just  d istr ibuted by 

staf f ,  but by.”  

 Obviously that  should have been outsourced company.  20 

“This version was not chal lenged. His c la im that  „ I  am a 

Coloured‟ is r id iculous.   The note which he prepared for 

the evaluat ion meet ing supports the content ion that  many 

of  h is c la ims are fabr icated as he makes no ment ion of  

any intent ion on his part  to ra ise what are now cla imed to 25 
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have been the burning issues at  that  t ime, namely 

d iscr iminat ion against  h im as a Jew and re ject ion of  h is 

art ic les due to racia l  prof i l ing.”  

Your Lordship must bear in mind the evidence there,  that 

note is h is a id,  memoir  –  he says he does not know that  he is 5 

being cal led to  th is meet ing to be given his marching orders. 

You can see f rom what he has done in the note he is going to 

give them what for,  te l l  them what needs to be changed at  the 

newspaper,  to just –  le t  me just  get –  in  order to turn th ings 

around.  But nowhere –  i t  is  in h is bundle.  10 

COURT :   I t  is  page 27 of  appl icant ‟s f i rst  bundle and i t  is  

headed:  Problems encountered at  the second product ion 

cycle.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Ja.   You can see, th is is the speech that  he 

was going to make at  the meet ing  by advert is ing the need for 15 

edi tor ia l  d irect ives about what const i tutes community -dr iven, 

about the great scoop he got in get t ing an interview, about h is 

t ime being spent on the story late Fr iday night ,  the story was 

re jected out of  hand, etcetera,  etcetera.  

“A khoki  board that we need so that  we can wri te them 20 

down as leads come in.”  

 Etcetera,  etcetera.  Nothing about what we are now to ld  

are these terr ib le hours that  conf l ict wi th h is abi l i ty to pract ice 

his Jewish re l ig ion and nothing about a c la im that  h is work is  

being re jected because of  racia l  prof i l ing.   In other words what 25 
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I  am submit t ing to Your Lordship,  that  stuf f  is  h is react ion to 

what then happens to h im at  the meeting.  

COURT:  But he is cal led to a meet ing.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  

COURT :   Isn‟ t  i t  consistent  that  he –  he is of  the view that  the 5 

meet ing is to deal with problems encountered in the second 

product ion cycle? 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  

COURT:  And Ms Dean and Mr Tal jaard have a very d i f ferent 

reason for the meet ing.  10 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes,  a l l  …(intervent ion)   

COURT :   But what we do not have is Mr Tal jaard‟s evidence 

because Ms Dean says she never cal led him –  she never –  she 

spoke to Mr Tal jaard,  but  Mr Tal jaard is the person who cal led 

the meet ing.   So what we have on record is s imply h is version 15 

of  what the meet ing was about.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  No, no,  what I  am saying,  M‟Lord ,  the 

al legat ion …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  What he thought the meet ing was about,  ja.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  The events which he says form the core of  20 

the case before th is Court  are events that  happe ned before 

that  meet ing.   I f  he was going along to a meet ing where  he 

was going to ra ise with management h is problems, i t  is  strange 

that  the f i rst  t ime we hear about those problems is when h e 

decides to take up the cudgel  against  h is former employer and 25 
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not  at  the t ime that  he is working there.  In other words Ms 

Dean says –  these th ings that  he is now saying in court  about 

t reatment of  Jews, about an edi tor ia l  pol icy involving racia l  

prof i l ing,  d id he say anything about th is whi le he was work ing 

for you?  And the answer is no.  5 

COURT:  Ja. 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  So what I  am saying is when i t  comes to 

credib i l i ty and bel ieving him I  am submit t ing to Your Lordship 

that  th is case is part  of  a vendetta which he is pursuing 

against  h is former employer.  He has looked fo r but tons to push 10 

which he bel ieves are most hurtfu l  to the respondent and he 

has constructed his case around those, without properly 

considering –  or I  do not know i f  he real ly cares to be qui te 

honest –  whether he has a sustainable case in law.  49.11:  

“He made fa lse cla ims about the re l igious and cul tural  15 

background of  Dean in order to.”   

 That should be „bolster h is case‟.    

“He included vehement ly ant i -Semit ic cartoons in the 

bundle that  have absolute ly nothing to do with the 

respondent,  that  do not. ”  20 

 And they are vi le cartoons, M‟Lord .  

“They do no emanate f rom any of  h is publ icat ions,  but 

f rom some publ icat ion cal led The Owl (?).  Asked to 

expla in why the edi tor of  the Sowetan would be 

promot ing the views of  D  F Malan al l  he could say was 25 
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that : I  bel ieve the Court  should accept my hypothesis.”  

 In other words everybody who is an edi tor of  any Media 

24 t i t le,  on his version,  is in ef fect  a pract is ing racist .  

MR LEWIS:  Yes. 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  there you have i t .    5 

COURT:  Wel l ,  maybe you should just  put  on record.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  What? 

COURT:  What he has just said.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Wel l ,  I  am putt ing i t  on record then that  h is 

answer to my assert ion is yes.   And i f  you made an al legat ion 10 

of  that  nature,  which a Court  f inds that  you cannot sustain, 

then you must accept the consequences of  what is coming your 

way, which then brings me to the quest ion of  costs:    

“Submitted that  costs should be awarded in favour of  the 

respondent.   There is no ongoing re lat ionship between 15 

the part ies which needs to be preserved. This i l l -

conceived l i t igat ion has run for f ive days in court and has 

further been compl icated by numerous procedural  

skirmishes as the appl icant does not observe the ru les of  

court ,  but  generates papers that ( indist inct)  sui ts h im.  20 

He also uses subpoenas without just i f icat ion.”  

 Your Lordship wi l l  remember we had a str ing of  people 

pul led away f rom their  work to br ing al l  sorts of  manner of  

documents that  have got nothing to do with th is case.  

“This case is c learly part  of  a vendetta being pursued by 25 
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the appl icant against  respondent in which he has in th is  

court  sought further to publ ic ise the var ious themes on 

which he has waxed lyr ical  in  h is internet based 

campaign.  I t  is  respectfu l ly submitted that  court 

proceedings are a ser ious and expensive bus iness and 5 

the Court ‟s valuable t ime should not  be wasted with what 

amounts to l i t t le more than a badly researched Hyde Park 

corner soapbox lecture.   A cost  order should thus be 

made, not  only because the respondent is ent i t led to i t  as 

a successful  party in these proceedings,  but  a lso to 10 

discourage further s imi lar l i t igat ion.   Troubled people 

who imagine that  they are constant ly the vict im of  

persecut ion should not  t reat  courts of  law as a port of  

cal l  in  which to seek solace.”  

 Those are my submissions,  M‟Lord,  unless you have any 15 

quest ions? 

COURT:  Mr Lewis? 

MR LEWIS:  M‟Lord ,  I  request perhaps i f  I  could be given just 

a b i t  of  t ime to formulate my response to Mr Kahanovitz.  He 

has del ivered quite an interest ing fantasy of  the version of  20 

events and I  bel ieve I  have the r ight  to respond in some kind 

of  rat ional fashion.  I t  would do us a disservice i f  I  just  gave an 

immediate response. 

COURT:  Yes, wel l .   What is the t ime?  12:20 , 20 to 12:00. 

(Sof t  d iscussion with unident if ied  person).25 
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MR KAHANOVITZ:  M‟Lord, might I  suggest –  I  am in Your 

Lordship‟s hands –  i t  is  20 to 12:00 now –  that  we stand down 

t i l l  12:30 to give him an opportuni ty to prepare that argument?  

COURT:  Yes, that wi l l  be f ine.  Mr Lewis?  

MR LEWIS:  I  am agreeable with that ,  Your Honour.  5 

COURT:  Al l  r ight ,  we wi l l  stand down t i l l  12:30.  

COURT ADJOURNS   (at 16:50) 

COURT RESUMES   (at 15:18) 

COURT:  W il l  you go outside and see i f  he is around?  (sof t 

d iscussion with unident if ied person).  10 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  M‟Lord ,  my instruct ing at torney is going  to 

have a look,  because he tends to stand in one place 

somet imes, so we are just  going to see if  he is there by any 

chance.  I  do not know.  

COURT:  Okay.  Ja,  for the record I  just  wish to say that  I  15 

entered the Court  at  half  past ,  i t  is  not  twenty -f ive to.   There is 

no appearance on behalf  of  the appl icant.   My associate has 

gone outside the court  to see where he is and the respondent ‟s 

instruct ing at torney is now going to have a further at tempt to 

locate him and I wi l l  wait  another f ive minutes I  suppose . 20 

(Long pause and si lence in court) .  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  M‟Lord,  I  understand th is is Mr Lewis ‟  

f r iend who knows something of  h is whereabouts.  

COURT:  Yes. 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Sorry,  may I  apologise,  because I 25 
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a lso understood otherwise I  would have reminded . He said I  

must meet h im here again at  hal f  past  one because he went 

down to the internet café to do –  to just  type up his 

…(intervent ion)   

COURT:  I t  was at .  5 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I  a lso misunderstood i t ,  because 

he said the Court wi l l  take a break t i l l  two o‟c lock.  

COURT:  T i l l  12:30.   I t  was clear …(intervent ion)   

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Both me and him misunderstood i t  

and I  am, I  am just going to get  out  to get  h im now.  10 

COURT:  Okay, I  do not want to argue with you.  Thank you 

very much for the informat ion.    

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Should I  go cal l  h im now?  

COURT:  I  th ink you better cal l  h im.  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I t  is  qui te a d istance for me now to 15 

walk because I do not know i f  h is cel l  phone is on.  

COURT:  ( Indist inct) .   Mr Kahanovitz …(intervent ion)  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Give me 10 minutes, give me 10 

t i l l  …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Please, p lease, p lease just  do not address me there.  20 

Wil l  you –  you can go and f ind the appl icant i f  you wish.  I  am 

going to –  I  th ink we wi l l  …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Adjourn. 

COURT:  Adjourn and if  he arr ives then we wi l l  deal with that 

then. 25 
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MR KAHANOVITZ:  Should we make a t ime when we –  e i ther i f  

he –  a cut-of f  per iod.  

COURT:  Yes, my sense is that  he –  he better be here by one 

o‟clock.  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Thanks.  5 

COURT ADJOURNS   (at 15:26) 

COURT RESUMES   (at 15:10) 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  M‟Lord ,  whi le Your Lordship was out of  the 

court  the appl icant made threats to me and my instruct ing 

at torney saying:  „You guys are going to need t ickets to New 10 

York.  I  am not going to be bul l ied by you because you have got  

sui ts.  I  have also got a sui t ‟ .   I  d id not  ask him to e laborate on 

exact ly what he meant,  but  by his body language and his tone I 

understood i t  as a threat, as d id my instruct ing at torney.  

COURT:  Mr Lewis ,  d id you make those remarks?  15 

MR LEWIS:  I  don‟t  bel ieve i t  was a threat.   I t  was casual 

conversat ion.   They were ment ioning Pi l lay –  the Pi l lay 

judgment.  I  suppose I  should not  be ta lk ing to them.  I  am 

sorry.  

COURT:  W il l  you expla in why you were late?  20 

MR LEWIS:  Sorry? 

COURT:  W il l  you expla in to me why you were late?  

MR LEWIS:  I  bel ieved i t  was recess unt i l  2:00.  

COURT:  I t  was very c lear that  i t  was 12:30.  

MR LEWIS:  I  d id not  hear that ,  sorry.   I  have only one pair  of25 
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ears. 

COURT:  W il l  you proceed with your argument,  Mr Lewis?  

MR LEWIS:  Indeed. 

MR LEWIS ADDRESSES COURT IN REPLY:   M‟Lord ,  I  am not 

an at torney.  I  am not a qual i f ied member of  the Bar.  I  have no 5 

authori ty to speak or exegete on labour law.  I  am not here to 

argue the minut iae of  d iscr im inat ion laws,  of  evidence and so 

forth.   In fact ,  I  am at  your mercy.   I  am forced to represent 

myself  because my legal insurance was repudiated.  I  sought 

legal assistance. I  have –  as you know, wel l  know, there is an 10 

IFP appl icat ion at  High Court .  I  have approached the Cape or 

President of  the Cape Bar Associat ion at tempt ing to f ind some 

kind of  solace and I  have yet  to f ind anyone who has stepped 

into the breach to argue my case.  

 So therefore I  am at  an extreme disadvantage when i t  15 

comes to the var ious a rguments and the ef fects on the legal 

f ramework and jurisprudence and so forth.   So I  am going to 

at tempt just  to essent ia l ly answer some of  the new tone and 

the new voices that are emanat ing f rom th is fantast ical 

document that  is cal led respondent ‟s heads  of  argument.   20 

Perhaps i f  we could turn to the page, page 12.  So I  am going 

to take i t  f rom there.  

 M‟Lord ,  there seems to be some debate about whether or 

not  a s ingle event or ser ies of  events can consti tute an 

employment pol icy or  pract ice.   Can discr im inat ion or racia l  25 
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prof i l ing against  a group be considered discr iminat ion against 

an individual?  I f  an individual objects to such discr iminat ion 

and is not  a member of  that  group which is being discr iminated 

against  can that  individual object  and i f  h is ob ject ions are then 

met with vio lence and oppression by the other s ide,  a naked 5 

aggression by the other s ide,  and that  person then in turn 

suf fers d iscr imination is th is enough to fa l l  wi th in the ambit of  

the Employment Equity Act?  

 M‟Lord ,  i t  is  submit ted there is a pat tern of  d iscr iminat ion 

in Media 24 that  does not f i t  the discreet compartments into 10 

which the respondent would l ike us to f i t  th is d iscr iminat ion.   I f  

only we could just  package the discriminat ion and f i le  i t  away 

in cabinets,  brush i t  under t he carpet,  maybe th is whole case 

wi l l  just  s imply d isappear.   The object ive of  the respondent has 

been to attempt to remove the cause of  act ion by fabr icat ing 15 

an issue regarding my conduct as an employee.  

 Whether or not  the cause of  act ion stems f rom an a ct of  

d iscr iminat ion or the act ion stems f rom a discip l inary hearing 

about my own conduct,  there are certa in facts which the 

respondent has been unable to prove and when conf ronted 20 

with the evidence against  i t  has sought to d istract  the Court.   

I f  the issue at  the evaluat ion was indeed my conduct why 

would I  wri te an evaluat ion report  ta lking about the problems in 

the product ion process and i l lustrat ing the fact  that  whi lst  in 

the employ of  Media 24 I  am now working on a Fr iday night .  25 
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 Why would I  wri te such a document?  No ment ion of  the 

incident to which Dean refers to in the –  e i ther the –  in  fact,  

e i ther the Jimmy Dludlu story or the Robbie Jansen –  none of  

that is referred to.  Sorry,  I  am gett ing confused.  The mistake 

that  we are making is the problem  with the Jimmy Dludlu story 5 

and the Robbie Jansen story,  which in fact  was a topic of  

conversat ion at  the evaluat ion meet ing,  has absolute ly nothing 

to do with my conduct as an individual.  

 Me breaching some internal ru le at  Media 24 has 

absolute ly no bearing on th is matter.   I f  the issue was my 10 

conduct why would Dean‟s d iary on the day refer to that  of  

overt ime ta lk and why would she, when under cross -

examinat ion,  suddenly at  the end of  a painstaking process of  

cross-examinat ion, why would Ms Dean suddenl y reveal to us 

that  the problem was in fact ,  as she put i t :   A problem with the 15 

carpool .   

 Al l  of  a sudden the issue of  the car suddenly manifests 

i tsel f  in  th is court .  I  have made no reference to i t  in  any of  my 

documents.   In fact ,  the issue of  the car q ui te by chance 

escaped my mind and I  f ind i t  very interest ing because it  20 

reminds me of  those Jews who refuse to dr ive on a Fr iday 

night  c i t ing their own bel iefs.   The only val id reason for 

re ject ing the Dludlu story that  Dean can of fer us is the 

apparent lack of  a c i tat ion to an URL.   

That is qui te aside f rom my own character isat ion of  these 25 
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art ic les.  I  am not prepared to defend the f i rst  art ic le. I  don‟t  

bel ieve i t  is  a great p iece of  prose or work or  whatever, 

journalese, but i t  is  my r ight  to defend my byl ine in any court 

and anybody confronted with the kind of  prejudice meted out 

by the respondent would seek to defend their  record.   The 5 

respondent has not given me such an opportuni ty.   Instead i t  

has resorted to the lowest form of  bul ly -boy tact ics.  

 The People‟s Post cont inues to act  in a way that 

discr iminates.   Not by publ ishing shark art ic les or glowing 

reviews about the dog that  d ied next -door,  but  by refusing to 10 

publ ish the t rue l i fe stor ies of  those who l ive in the very 

community serviced by the supposed community newspaper. 

The true l i fe stor ies of  suf fer ing and antagonism and conf l ict 

and the resolut ion and transformat ion through a beaut ifu l 

opportuni ty,  the new South Af r ica, for growth.  15 

 So one of  my al legat ions is that th is is an example of ,  as  

you in fact  put i t ,  I  am a progressive person stepping into a 

r ight  wing organisat ion conf ronted with conserv at ive and r ight 

wing prejudices that  af fect  me as an individual.   The editor 

cont inues to deny opportuni ty to people such as Robbie 20 

Jansen to supp ly comment to the newspaper.   I f  th is is not an 

act  of  d irect  censorship against those af fected communit ies 

then I  do not know what is.  

 The editor ‟s denial  that  the discr iminatory pol ic ies or 

pract ices do not exist  merely because they are not wri t ten 25 



MR LEWIS 
C 8 8 / 2 0 0 7  

513 REPLY 

 

21.01.2010/15:10-16:02/LL / . . .  

down in wr i t ing is not  enough to def lect  suspic ion that  what is 

merely happening is a pol icy of  expedience which re inforces 

the last  vest iges of  what can only be cal led white power in the 

Cape.  I t  is  my r ight  as an individual to d issent.  The 

Const i tut ion spec i f ical ly ment ions in a var iety of  paragraphs 5 

and even in the preamble,  i t  mentions f reedom of  thought, 

f reedom of  conscience, bel ief ,  associat ion and re l igion al l  in 

the same breath in the same document.  

 This d issent,  M‟Lord ,  is  therefore synonymous with our 

democrat ic values as a nat ion.   A signi f icant aspect of  th is 10 

case is the manner in which my bel iefs as a person of Jewish 

descent  have been at tacked by the respondent.   The 

respondent was wel l  aware that  I  was Jewish and the work 

week as i t  was const i tuted –  I  would never have jo ined such an 

organisat ion if  there was not some kind of  modicum of  value 15 

system.  And yet  the manner in which th is contract  has been 

interpreted wi l ly -n i l ly,  anything can happen, and I  am object ing 

against  the grounds, whether i t  is  a mater ia l  breach or 

whatever how one wants to construe i t ,  that essent ial ly th is 

contract  is the anti thesis of  everyth ing a Jewish person might 20 

agree with.  

 Surely working on a Fr iday night  in such circumstances 

would be open to a form of  review.  M‟Lord,  th is is not a case 

about somebody who was employed and who f rom day one was 

problemat ic.   Why would the company even employ me in the 25 
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f i rst  p lace if  that  was the case?  No, M‟Lord ,  th is is rather a 

case about the l imits and constra ints of  pr ivate law  vis-à-vis  

labour law and the r ights of  the worker or employee vis-à-vis  

the r ights of  the corporat ion.  

 The respondent has consistent ly t reated me as a socia l 5 

infer ior,  a person with less status than a hundred percent 

white person.  The respondent has cho sen to cynical ly h ide 

behind the racia l  categories of  the past ,  have many i l lustrated 

their  own hypocrisy by on numerous occasions ra ising th is 

issue of  race, as i f  i t  is  a defence in any court  of  law.  10 

 No-one in today‟s age can –  should be al lowed to walk  

into a court  and say:  No, Your Honour,  th is person is a white 

person. This person is a coloured person. This person is a 

b lack person and therefore I  am of f  the hook because race is 

some God ordained fact  of  nature.  These are not  scient if ic 15 

facts.   Even science, the scient if ic  establ ishment,  would f rown 

upon such prejudice and discr imination i l lustrated in the 21st 

century.  

 So therefore again,  what are the r ights and dut ies of  an 

employee vis-à-vis  the obl igat ions of  an employer?  I t  is  very 20 

clear f rom the very outset  that  the contract  of  employment has 

gross defects.   Not only does the contract  lack a page set t ing 

out  what the responsib i l i t ies of  the employee may or may not 

be or what any r ights the person who is employed might have, 

but  there appears to  be some issue about whether the 25 
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negot iat ion in terms of  the contract  begins on the th ird, second 

or th ird month or what,  how one should approach these issues 

of  interpretat ion of  the contract .  

 The fact  of  the matter is that  I  was not able to reta in an 

at torney of  the stature of  a Mr Kahanovitz to come and plead 5 

my case before Mr Tal jaard for leeway in my contract .   No, I  

was t reated l ike every other garden boy or k i tchen servant by a 

person who bel ieves that  i f  we evenly apply d iscr imination that 

somehow val idates the discr iminat ion of  the past .  

 Respondent has targeted me because of  my pol i t ical  and 10 

re l igious bel iefs.   They were obl iged to h ire me.  This is the 

new country,  people are t ransforming, yet  we st i l l  have these 

problems in the newsroom.  There appears to be some issue –  

r ight .   Right ,  M‟Lord ,  I  objected to the ethical  standards that 

Ms Dean holds up in such high regard,  her standards,  her 15 

standards of  loyal ty for instance, her standards of  obedience 

to authori ty,  her standards of  kowtowing and yay saying.   

Would a progressive Jew have a problem with dr iving on a 

Fr iday night?  I  do not th ink th is is the issue, Mr Kahanovitz.  

 We have already heard evidence about the non -dogmatic 20 

nature of  Judaism. I  am not obl iged by any doctr ine to str ict 

adherence to the Torah and yet  that document informs my day 

to day –  my ident i ty,  my l i fe.   What e lse have I  got?  

Respondent bel ieves that  merely,  merely being who I  am, I  am 

simply p laying the ant i -Semit ism card and i t  is  a card which I  25 
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have been very careful  not  to p lay.   I  am not t rying to appear 

as one of  those Jews who is paranoid about persecut ion.   I  am 

not af ra id to go out on a l imb. I  have gone out on a l imb for the 

people of  Palest ine.  I  have gone out –  I  am on record as 

support ing the end of  the siege  of  Gaza.  5 

 I  am not a person in the community who hides behind the 

synagogue or h ides behind a church.  I  am someone, because 

of  my bel iefs,  has essent ia l ly gone the whole gam ut of  

experience.  And here I stand having experienced the same 

kind of  oppression than any South Af r ican who can tru ly cal l  10 

themselves a South Af r ican would have experienced.  

 I  am not –  no longer a pr ivi leged white person as Mr 

Kahanovitz would l ike us to bel ieve.  Now the problem in the 

company has to do with the set  of  norms and ci rcumstances 

informed by the former white ru le and the deals which were 15 

being made in terms of  the sunset clauses.  Surely the sunset 

of  white power is at  an end.  M‟Lord ,  Judeophobia is 

into lerance of  Jewish expression.   I  am not referr ing to people 

who do not l ike Jews.  I  am referr ing to people who do not 

to lerate the experience and existence of  the Jewish personal i ty 20 

and the Jewish ident i ty with in a corporate context .  

 I  am not referr ing to how I  dress or where I  worship,  but 

rather to my personal i ty as a Jew.  Media 24 on the other hand 

have merely d ished up their  Calvin ist ic Protestant  informed 

views in which Ms Dean herself  was not able to reveal that  she 25 



MR LEWIS 
C 8 8 / 2 0 0 7  

517 REPLY 

 

21.01.2010/15:10-16:02/LL / . . .  

was a Cathol ic.   How can I  t rust  a work environment in which 

the edi tor herself  is  not  able to assert :   Yes,  I  am a Cathol ic 

and proud of  i t .   No, she has had to conform and kowtow to the 

NG Kerk  and she has had to h ide her Cathol ic ism.  I t  is  the 

only reasonable explanat ion for her te l l ing me in a newsroom 5 

that  no,  she has got a problem, she comes f ro m the NG Kerk  

and al l  of  a sudden in th is court lo and behold she is a 

Cathol ic.  

 M‟Lord ,  I  am not one of  those yes people and I  have in 

fact  gone into detai l  that  one could argue that  my sense of  10 

argument and my sense of  rat ional i ty is a result  of  the Soc rat ic 

t radi t ion that  is a result  of  Judaism in fact ,  where people are 

taught f rom a very early age to quest ion authori ty.   Now, Your 

Honour,  th is Court  is tasked with protect ing my r ights as a 

journal ist ,  as a c i t izen and as a worker.   Can a single instanc e 15 

in which media managers acted out of  hand be construed as 

pol icy or should the quest ion rather be:  Can a single instance, 

which media managers acted beyond the pale be construed as 

discr iminat ion? 

 I  am not a l leging a direct  pol icy af fect ing al l  Jews in 20 

South Af r ica.   I  am al leging a pol icy which is the ant i thesis of  

my own bel iefs as a Jew.  As far as the respondent is 

concerned, Ms Dean has merely to step into the court  to 

decla im about my conduct and that  is enough for them.   They 

have proved their  case.  She has –  in  fact  the exact  opposite 25 
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is  t rue,  M‟Lord .   She has contradicted her statement on 

numerous occasions and in any event is not  the sole 

perpetrator of  the cr ime.  

 The problem is not  the result  of  one individual ‟s act ions, 

but several .   Yes,  there was a reasonable expectat ion of  5 

renewal and if  not ,  then where,  then there was at least a 

reasonable expectat ion that the terminat ion would at the very 

least  occur in an orderly,  d iscip l ined and a legal ly b inding 

manner,  which obviously has not.  

 There are no documents that  have been of fered up as the 10 

blue chip document in which we should look and study and f ind 

no, th is was a perfect  example in which terminat ion of  contract 

happened without there being some kind of  legal problem.   The 

respondent has been unable to show any evidence 

contradict ing my own statement.   There is no wri t ten warning,  15 

no wri t ten reason for terminat ion,  only the words of  Dean.   

 I f  there was a mater ia l  breach of  the contract  –  and one 

may assume there was –  was the mater ia l  breach the result  of  

the act ions of  the respondent or the act ions of  the applicant or 

both?  Were we both to b lame perhaps?  I  vouch that the only 20 

rat ional explanat ion provided is my own and that  the 

explanat ion provided by the respondent is inconsistent.   

Instead or rather the explanat ion provided by the respondent is 

consistent  with a person who bel ieves they may act  with  

impunity,  who bel ieves that the LRA is just a document that 25 
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can f ix with some expensive legal counsel,  that  they do not 

have any –  have to worry about such a document.   

 They can just  send in their  f inest  counsel and al l  their  

problems wi l l  suddenly d isappear,  because they can wrap up 

the pla int i f f  in  red tape.  The respondent has expat iat ing at 5 

length about the supposed homogeneity of  the va r ious 

communit ies and i t  is  very fancy words that  suddenly start 

appearing.   The truth is in the four communit ies in which I  

worked there was a degree of  homogeneity and there was a 

homogeneity of  c lass ref lect ing the poverty caused as a result  10 

of  the Apartheid system.  

 The Jansen art icle was re jected because i t  d id not 

conform with the wel l -mannered sensi t ivi t ies of  a person l iving 

in Fish Hoek.  Can the same be said of  previously 

d isadvantaged communit ies?  How would they have received 15 

th is art ic le?  Sure ly they would have acted dif ferent ly.   Now Ms 

Dean may not th ink that  Robbie Jansen is of  any value or is 

not  a hero.   Surely he is a hero in the communit ies of  Grassy 

Park and surely I  would not  be standing here with a let ter f rom 

Rashid Lombard expat iat ing upon how the audience for the 20 

Cape Jazz Fest ival  is drawn f rom precisely those target 

markets and what a wonderfu l  opportuni ty th is would be i f  we 

could redress these issues and a past  as we know i t  where 

black jazz men were forced to perform behind cur ta ins, behind 

a vei l  of  secrecy and segregat ion that  was informed by the 25 
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sel fsame corporat ion that  th is act ion is pending.  

 Now, Your Honour,  M‟Lord ,  the respondent has set  up 

spurious tests to make us bel ieve that  everyth ing is under 

contro l .   Ms Dean has  a handle on the si tuat ion.   There was no 

chaos at  the evaluat ion as she put i t .   Respondent would l ike 5 

us to bel ieve that  Ms Dean‟s posi t ion should rather be seen as 

one of  a f ragi le minori ty with in the context  of  a vast  b lack 

major i ty,  that  my appointment was not controversia l ,  was just 

merely the corporat ion doing business.    

 M‟Lord ,  for the record,  I  bel ieve that  in numerous 10 

statements I  have indicated that  race is a socia l  construct ,  that 

race should not be considered a res or a th ing in the domain of  

law and that  the def in i t ion,  del ineation of  race, should rather 

be a personal,  pr ivate th ing between one self  and one‟s maker.  

The existence of  a d irect  or indirect  pol icy of  d iscr iminat ion 15 

therefore is not crucia l  to my case.  I t  is  merely the 

circumstant ia l  evidence and f ramework surrounding the t rue 

problem which is racism i tself ,  ant i -Semit ism as i t  stands and 

as i t  is  and the complete into lerance shown by the respondent 

to d if ferences of  opin ion.  20 

 I  stand one hundred percent behind my second art ic le 

and as th is Court  knows i t  was the only p iece that  was –  not 

the only p iece that  was re jected, there are several  other 

p ieces of  information that  have been thrown out.   I t  just  so 

happens that  we have come to th is point  because of  the 25 
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manner of  the LRA and  the way i t  is  proceeding before th is 

Court  where we spend an enormous amount of  t ime discussing 

one or two documents, but what happened to a l l  those other 

documents that  were re jected?  There are no explanations for 

them. 5 

 Is any of  th is consistent  with a  corporat ion that  would 

l ike to be seen as the perfect  example of  a community -dr iven 

organisat ion, no racism whatsoever,  or is th is consistent  with 

an organisat ion that  real ly is just  perpetuat ing a certa in 

lackadaisical  oppress –  you know –  a l ight  f rom of  oppression, 10 

the banal i ty of  evi l  in  our day and age.  

COURT:  Mr Lewis,  you are giving a speech.  

MR LEWIS:  Right .  

COURT:  I  would prefer you to …(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  To tackle the points.  15 

COURT:  To give me an argument.   

MR LEWIS:  Yes. 

COURT:  And again I  have given you real ly very wide berth.  

Normal ly the purpose of  a reply is there to address the issues 

ra ised by the respondent ‟s counsel.  20 

MR LEWIS:  Right .  

COURT:  So rather than restate what you say at  length in the 

pleadings I  would prefer i t  i f  you would just  d irect  your 

at tent ion to the arguments that  you have ra ised by the 

respondent in h is heads of  argument and give me your 25 
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responses to them. You started I  thought rather apt ly on page 

13, but  we never got  any further,  so.  

MR LEWIS:  Right .   Perhaps if  i t  might p lease the Court  –  I  am 

essent ia l ly addressing the issues that  are ra ised f rom page 12 

onwards.   I  have not had t ime because of  the pressures 5 

involved to put  note and sort  of  cross -reference. 

COURT:  No, no,  you do not have to.  

MR LEWIS:  You see, th is is my problem.  I  would have been 

able to do that  …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  I  real ly am now –  I  am now on top of  the 10 

documentat ion.  You can be assured that  I  wi l l  be able to do i t .  

MR LEWIS:  Al l  r ight .    

COURT:  Anyway, you have now …(inte rvent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  May I  cont inue …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  You have addressed real ly fu l ly on, on 15 

…(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:   I t  is just  a l i t t le  b i t  and then I  wi l l  get  back to 

where I  sort  of  –  I  was phoned in the middle of  th is to –  I  had 

not real ised that the recess was unt i l  1:00.  

COURT:  I t  was 12:30 actual ly.  20 

MR LEWIS:  12:30, sorry.  

COURT:  But –  okay,  f in ish what you want to do and then.  

MR LEWIS:  Al l  r ight .  

COURT:  But again,  do not restate th ings that  you have said 

both in evidence and you have said i t  in  the pleadings.  25 
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MR LEWIS:  Al l  r ight .  

COURT:  Try and direct  yoursel f  as to why I  should not  fo l low 

what Mr Kahanovitz has said in h is heads of  argument. That is 

the thrust  of  what you should be doing.  

MR LEWIS:  Yes.   M‟Lord ,  I  am essent ia l ly ta lk ing to th is 5 

document,  so I  feel  that  i f  I  cont inue …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Wel l ,  ta lk to the document, but  p lease do not rehash 

anything that has been done before.  

MR LEWIS:  Al l  r ight .    

COURT:  You could be quite sure that  I  real ly do understand 10 

what you have said.  

MR LEWIS:  Al l  r ight .   So, M‟Lord ,  I  am essent ia l ly –  my 

argument is surely a person of  the stature,  Annel ien Dean, 

with her h istory in Media 24,  she is the poster chi ld of  Media 

24.  She has had an exemplary career,  beginning f rom day on e 15 

working for the company.  I t  is  not  something that  I  can say –  I  

can‟t  say I  have worked for Media 24 f rom day one.  Surely the 

poster chi ld for the company, with her h istory in the Distr ict  

Mail  and the Express and now the People‟s Post,  surely 

someone of  her enormous weight and stature and authori ty 20 

should be under some pressure to correct  the imbalances of  

Apartheid.  

 M‟Lord ,  I  submit that  Ms Dean has done absolute ly 

nothing rect i fy or change the pol ic ies which no doubt were in 

p lace at  Distr ict  Mai l  and Express and would stem f rom that 25 
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evi l  system.  Consequent ly,  M‟Lord ,  Dean has no credib i l i ty.  

She is not  an exemplary witness.  I t  is  no conjecture, but  rather 

a fact ,  a fact  before th is court .   I  have worked for Swelaki  

Sisulu.  I  have also worked for Sandi le Dikeni.   Dean on the 

other hand would have to fake her CV to have any struggle 5 

luminaries on i t .   Respondent would l ike to have i ts cake and 

eat i t .  I t  would l ike the authori ty of  the struggle press in our 

communit ies,  but i t  is  not  prepared to of fer  in return an 

equitable employment contract  recognising r ights of  workers 

and the r ights of  var ious minori ty groups.  10 

 And th is is not  to say that  any t ime such a history has 

been up for sale.   No, M‟Lord ,  I  f ind the problem of  my own 

existence in the new South Af r ican, in which separate 

development is st i l l  occurr ing,  undeniable.   In fact i t  is  a 

t ragedy, an ongoing t ragedy. How can I  deny my f r iendship 15 

with Rashid Lombard for instance?  Ms Dean, on the other 

hand, can only presume to know Mr Lombard.   She can only 

presume to know his personal h istory.  

 My cla ims therefore are no less grandiose than of fer ing 

up my own family to th is court  for inspect ion.   M‟Lord ,  Media 20 

24 cont inues to oppress.   The People‟s Post,  I  dare say,  one 

could very easi ly lead such evidence, People‟s Post has not 

even bothered to mark the death of  Dennis Brutus.   The history 

of  the communit ies af fected by Apartheid is essent ia l ly being 

thrown down the drain.   Perhaps i t  is out of  a cynical  d iabol ical 25 
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not ion that  i f  we al l  d ie of f  at  some point  we wi l l  forget  about 

the struggle,  i t  wi l l  a l l  just  go away and the white race wi l l  be 

bet ter of f  for i t .  

 That is the tota l of  what I  managed to wri te in the 

interval .   So we are just  going to revise where the –  where I  5 

lef t  of f  in  the document.   I  th ink I  am just  going to –  f rom page 

15 –  look at  th is accusat ion of  hypocrisy.  

 Now I  f ind i t  amazing that  new accusat ions keep 

emanat ing.  This is not  a sol id story that  is coming f rom the 

other s ide.  I t  is  a constant revis ion.  One minute i t  is  a stor y 10 

about my conduct as an individual.   The next  minute i t  is  a 

story about the staf f  t ransport .   The next  th ing i t  is  an issue of  

whether or not  I  was working on a Fr iday night .   And who  gets 

to decide what is a mult i  fa i th or a Phi losemite or who gets to 

decide who is an Orthodox Jew or not?  15 

 I  do not see why I  have to apologise for being a Jew sel f -

def ined by his Jewishness ,  as a result  of  my Jewish 

background.  I  do not have to apologise for being someone 

who th inks that Fr iday is of  any signi f icance and that  God 

forbid I  am not one of  those ul t ra Orthodox Jews.  This is not  a 20 

case about an ear p iercing,  M‟Lord .   This is not  a case about 

whether or not  I  am wearing a kippot .   This is not  a case about 

one of  those very Orthodox people.   This is a case about  the 

r igmarole ordinary progressive Jew,  in fact,  of  a part icular 

breed and a part icular stra in.   I  am not the only one.  25 
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 Mr Kahanovitz would l ike the Court to bel ieve that  I  am 

just  one example,  one instance, of  a d issent ing Jewish person 

in South Af r ica.   There are many examples.   Ronnie Kasri ls is 

a very good example of  someone who quite s imi lar to me, but 

holds completely d i f ferent  views about the Middle East.  I  am 5 

not the only person to stray f rom my f lock and th ink dif ferent ly.  

I t  is  a character ist ic  of  the Jewish people to th ink dif ferent, 

M‟Lord .  

 So Mr Kahanovitz walks in here wi th a letter f rom the 

Jewish Board of  Deput ies.  Sorry,  my own let ter to the Jewish 10 

Board of  Deput ies –  in  which he takes everyth ing out of  

context ,  st r ips i t  of  a l l  meaning and del ivers i t  up as th is is an 

example of  me confessing:  No, th is has got nothing to do with 

Fr iday night .  

COURT:  L isten,  I  do not th ink you have to deal with that 15 

argument.  I  do not bel ieve that  the Jewish Board of  Deput ies 

has anything to say what th i s case is about or not  about.   That 

is my job,  so you do not have to take i t  any further.  

MR LEWIS:  Al l  r ight ,  I  th ink we got to the point  wherein my 

common law in,  my own knowledge of  the law as i t  stands –  20 

and I  don‟t  c la im to be an expert  –  but  I  am prepared to 

enterta in thoughts about whether Harksen is re levant or not .  

COURT:  Wel l ,  is  Harksen re levant? 

MR LEWIS:  I  bel ieve i t  is .   I  bel ieve that  the onus is on the 

respondent to prove the fa irness of  the  discr iminat ion or 25 
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unfairness –  you know.  I  am essent ia l ly saying that  there has 

been a dif ferent iat ion in the community.   I  am a result  of  the 

di f ferent iat ion.   I  am a result  of  separate development.  I  am a 

result  of  a l l  the choices that  were made and my career in the 

struggle.   I  do not th ink i t  is  an issue that  is l ike a b lack hole, 5 

you know, we do not know what David Lewis d id in the 

struggle.  We know what David Lewis d id in the struggle.   We 

know where he was.  

COURT:  Ja,  no,  no,  you have addressed me at  length on that 

subject .   The issue is that  you brought your c la im under 10 

sect ion 6(1) of  the Employment Equity Act .  

MR LEWIS:  Right .  

COURT:  Now …(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  Yes. 

COURT:  And that requires you to prove unfair  d iscr iminat ion 15 

direct ly or indirect ly.  

MR LEWIS:  Right .  

COURT:  Against  an employee - you are the employee - in any 

employment pol icy or  pract ice and then i t  l is t  the grounds.  

And the two grounds that  you have l isted are pol i t ical  bel ief ,  20 

pol i t ical  opin ion or bel ief  and re l igion and cul ture on occasion, 

so the three of  those are  l is ted provis ions.   Now Harksen says 

that  i f  d iscr iminat ion is demonstrated then the burden fa l ls on 

the perpetrator,  in th is case an employer,  to prove that  i t  is 

fa ir .   But you have to jump the hurdle of  d iscr iminat ion.  25 
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MR LEWIS:  Right .  

COURT:  And …(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  There are two forms of  d iscr iminat ion.   There is 

the direct  form and an indirect  form and one could argue that 

the indirect  form is real ly the circumstances, the aggriegous 5 

history,  and that  the direct  form is the at tack against me  for 

being a Jew or not a Jew.  

COURT:  And the at tack? 

MR LEWIS:  The fact  that  they have quest ioned my, me, am I  a 

Jew or not .   I t  is  in a document.   I t  is  of fensive.  10 

COURT:  Are you ta lk ing about the pleadings now or are you 

ta lk ing …(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  The, i t  is  in,  i t  is  in their  amendment 

…(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Or are you ta lk ing about what happened 15 

…(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  I t  is  in their  amendment.  

COURT:  Mr Lewis,  p lease.  You know, I  have, i t  is  real ly very 

d i f f icul t .  You just  have to understand that  when I  speak you 

keep quiet ,  a l l  r ight?  Now the quest ion I  have asked you is 20 

th is at tack,  what you cal l  an at tack,  is that  –  was that  –  d id 

that  take place in the events mater ia l  leading up to you leaving 

the company or are you referr ing n ow to the pleadings?  

MR LEWIS:  M‟Lord ,  the problem with the pol i t ical  expression 

leading up to the evaluat ion,  r ight ,  and the problem of  the 25 
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overt ime sort  of  –  both those problems met, so the problem of  

the –  there was a problem of  the edi tor ia l  and then there was a 

problem, a contractual  issue, and those contractual  issues and 

the edi tor ia l  issues al l  met at  the same point  and th is is the 

chaos that  Ms Dean …(intervent ion)   5 

COURT:  Okay, I  suppose what we were debat ing though, of  

course,  was just  the test .   So applying Harksen 

…(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  Yes. 

COURT :   The quest ion is the fa irness,  the employer‟s 10 

obl igat ion to prove the fa irness of  the discr iminat ion.  

MR LEWIS:  Right .  

COURT:  Is dependent on whether or not  d iscr iminat ion has 

been proved. 

MR LEWIS:  Right .  15 

COURT:  And …(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  So –  and in order for me, the Harksen breaks up 

the –  is  l ike in  three stages.  In order for there to be 

discr iminat ion there has got to be some kind of  d if ferent ia t ion 

and, hm. 20 

COURT:  And what do you say was the dif ferent iat ion? 

MR LEWIS:  Right ,  so I  mean, i t  is  a moot point that  the 

di f ferent iat ion occurred.   That is not  enough on i ts own to be 

discr iminat ion.  

COURT:  Yes, so i t  is  a d i f ferent iat ion and then 25 
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…(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  So there was di f ferentiat ion.   The issue is was 

there –  I  am searching now for the word.  

COURT:  What was the dif ferent ia l  t reatment that  you have 

…(intervent ion)   5 

MR LEWIS:  Sorry? 

COURT:  What was the dif ferent ia l  t reatment that  you 

suf fered? 

MR LEWIS:  Besides the fact  that  I  was cast  in an infer ior ro le 

and that  is a h istor ical  ro le and that there was no opportuni ty 10 

for me …(intervention)   

COURT:  But there was no evidence to that ef fect .   You real ly 

just  got  to base –  you have got to base th is here –  we have a 

legal set  of  concepts.  

MR LEWIS:  Right .  15 

COURT:  One of  course is which is di f ferent iat ion.  

MR LEWIS:  Yes. 

COURT:  Now I  have asked you what was the dif ferent ial 

t reatment? 

MR LEWIS:  There was –  the disparate t reatment.  20 

COURT:  What was the disparate t reatment? 

MR LEWIS:  I  am the only person who experienced th is 

d iscr iminat ion at Media 24.  

COURT:  And what was the t reatment?  You jumped to 

d iscr iminat ion now.  We are not yet  …(intervent ion)   25 
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MR LEWIS:  The disparate t reatment was no -one else was 

removed f rom the company …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Okay, so i t  is  the terminat ion of  your employment, 

whether i t  is  d ismissal or renewal or whatever,  okay.  

MR LEWIS:  Right .  5 

COURT:  And that  you say was because of? 

MR LEWIS:  Sorry …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Okay, before we get there.   That is the f i rst 

d i f ference in t reatment.  

MR LEWIS:  Yes. 10 

COURT:  No-one else was, was …(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  No-one else was.  

COURT:  Okay.  

MR LEWIS:  Al l  r ight .  

COURT:  The second?  Were there any others?  15 

MR LEWIS:  I  was the only person who had a problem with the 

Fr iday night .  

COURT:  Because of  the –  because you were Jewish? 

MR LEWIS:  Yes.   So I  am the sort  of  the odd one out.  

COURT:  And what you say the di f ference in t reatment is that 20 

the pol icy was ei ther intent ional ly introdu ced or 

unintent ional ly,  but  i t  had the ef fect of  denying you your r ight  

to …(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  Right .  

COURT:  To observe your Sabbath,  okay.  25 
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MR LEWIS:  So whether i t  is  a de facto  pol icy or i t  is  overt  in 

intent ion,  i t  has the ef fect  that  I  get  d is cr iminated against  and 

i f  I  d isagree with that  d iscr imination then I suf fer further 

abuse.  This I  th ink was quite remarkable.   One would th ink i f  

there was a disagreement there would be some at tempt to 5 

accommodate.   You know, the pattern,  and i t  is  a pat t ern of  

abuse that  I  have experienced on numerous –  th is is not the 

f i rst  t ime I  have experienced th is k ind of  abuse.  I t  is  –  i f  there 

is a …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Okay, but  that is real ly not  re levant in th is case, Mr 10 

Lewis.   Al l  r ight ,  so the dif ferent i a l  t reatment as I  understand i t  

is  the requirement ef fect ively being required to work in breach 

of  your re l igious s tandards.   That is the indirect  ef fect  or the 

impact that  the product ion cycle establ ished for the PP, the 

People‟s Post,  has on you.  The se cond was your non renewal 15 

or terminat ion.  

MR LEWIS:  Right .  

COURT:  And the harassment?  Now you describe harassment 

in d if ferent  terms.  

MR LEWIS:  I  have at tempted to descr ibe the harassment.   The 20 

problem is the argument,  as you wel l  know, th is is just  a short -

term problem.  I  have described th is as a specious example.   I t  

is  just  sort  of  a species (?) of  corporate –  you know –  you could 

look at  the br ight  s ide and say th is is a corporate teambui ld ing 

exercise,  but  i f  that  teambui ld ing exercise is real ly:   Let us put 25 
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you a dog on a leash and just  move you around l ike you are in 

the army, then i t  has a complete adverse ef fect .   I t  is  not  a 

teambui ld ing exercise i f  the intent ion –  I  th ink th is is –  the 

intent ion,  you know, and I  have looked at  th is,  is that  I  can 

understand the corporate teambui ld ing exercise as an 5 

except ion,  but  to do i t  twice in a row, to do i t  consecut ive 

weeks, knowing ful l  wel l  that  there is a problem with overt ime 

and that  there is pressures and al l  sorts of  problems with 

implement ing the technology in the company, surely that 

person who does that  has some kind of  idea that ,  you know, i f  10 

we break the dissent ing voices in the company –  th is is the 

at t i tude –  break those dissent ing voices through hard labour.  

COURT:  Al l  r ight ,  no,  I  understand.  What you are saying is  

that  your –  what you perceive your c la im to be is that  the fact 

that  you did not comply with the pol ic ies led to you being 15 

harassed for pol i t ical  and re l igious.  

MR LEWIS:  Yes. 

COURT:  They are combined together.  

MR LEWIS:  Yes. 

COURT:  Am I  paraphrasing what your argument 20 

…(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  Yes,  yes,  M‟Lord ,  you are.  

COURT:  And then once that  has been demonstrated then the 

quest ion of  fa irness would ar ise,  fo l lowing Harksen. 

MR LEWIS:  Wel l,  th is is the th ing,  is that  the rebutta l  one 25 
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would have thought that  …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Yes, no,  r ight .   And …(intervent ion)   

MR LEWIS:  So my response real ly is Mr Kahanovitz has 

at tempted to essent ia l ly d ispose of  th is problem as i f  i t  does 

not exist .   He has t r ied to d ispose of  Harksen.  You know 5 

…(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Wel l ,  I  do not  th ink he does.  I  th ink that  there is 

( indist inct) .   You must prove dif ferent iat ion,  then you must l ink 

the dif ferent iat ion to the ground.  

MR LEWIS:  Yes,  yes.  10 

COURT:  Once you do that ,  that i s discr iminat ion.  

MR LEWIS:  Al l  r ight .  

COURT:  Once there is d iscr iminat ion Harksen says that  there 

is a presumpt ion that  i t  is  unfair ,  in  which case the perpetrator, 

in th is case the employer,  would be required to prove i t  is  fa ir.   15 

So that is certa in ly my understanding of  what Mr Kahanovitz 

said and that accords with your own understanding of  Harksen. 

MR LEWIS:  Yes,  but  I  feel  that there is a fa i lure to accept the 

di f ferent iat ion.  

COURT:  No, no,  that  is a factual  issue.  20 

MR LEWIS:  No dif ferent  …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  No, that  is a factual  issue.  Harksen, you know, was 

deal ing with a completely d i f ferent  case.  We are just  deal ing 

with the legal f ramework and then we apply the legal 

f ramework to the facts.   Anyway, is there anything else you 25 
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wish to address me on? 

MR LEWIS:  Yes,  M‟Lord .  You know,  the quest ion in my mind 

real ly,  coming here yesterday and today, having been given 

the opportuni ty to look at  the Dlamini  and the other Canadian 

judgment,  they are very interest ing judgments and I f ind i t  5 

qui te interest ing that  Mr Kahanovitz walks in with Dlamini ,  but 

he has forgotten about Pi l lay.   The quest ion is,  is th is a s imple 

nose stud case, is i t  a case about Fr iday night  or is i t  a case 

about cul tural  ident i ty?  What comes out of  the Pi l lay case is 

preservat ion of  one‟s cul tural her i tage. I t  is  not so much the 10 

problem of  whether or not  you –  whether or not  i t  is a bona 

f ide re l igious issue.  The fact  that the Court  found that  i t  was 

enough to show that  th is was a longstanding t radi t ion in the 

community were to be accepted as such.  

 So real ly I  am asking the Court  to accept that  Shabbat  is  15 

a longstanding t radi t ion and that my views would have been 

informed, ergo the evaluat ion meet ing in which Ms Dean 

acknowledges that there was a problem with dr iving a c ar on a 

Fr iday had something to do with Judaism.  

COURT:  I  d id not understand her evidence to be that,  but  be 20 

that  as i t  may.  I  understood her to say that  the issue of  the 

West End on Friday night  arose –  that  the –  she remembers i t  

arose and she remembered i t  because you had requested for a 

car that evening.  

MR LEWIS:  Wel l ,  th is is the th ing,  there is an inconsistent 25 
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test imony.  On the one hand there is an issue of  the West End, 

other hand is an issue of  Robbie Jansen and then there is the 

issue of  the carpool.   So for me to understand –  how can one 

understand th is?  I  do not th ink th is was about conduct.   I  th ink 

we can ru le out  issues of  conduct,  unless they were in terms of  5 

my –  i f  i t  was an issue of  the conduct in terms of  whether or 

not  the company thought i t  was correct  for me as a Jew to be 

dr iving a car on a Fr iday night  or going to West End 

…(intervent ion)   

COURT:  Real ly that  was not the issue.  10 

MR LEWIS:  Was not the issue? 

COURT:  I t  just was not the issue.  So let us move on.  Is 

there anything else you wish to ra ise?  

MR LEWIS:  I  do not bel ieve so. I  do not bel ieve I  have the 

kind of  knowledge necessary to take the argument any further.  15 

I  do not have the …(intervent ion)   

COURT:  The argument is ent i re ly factual  and you have 

engaged me with some very real  knowledge about 

d iscr iminat ion law, so I  th ink you are not  in any legal d isabi l i ty 

as far as substant ive law is concerned and …(intervent ion)   20 

MR LEWIS:  Right ,  oh,  th is is where –  I  forgot  my point  that  I  

was t rying to make because we were having a bi t  of  a 

conversat ion.  

COURT:  Ja. 

MR LEWIS:  I  th ink that  what I  was t ry ing to suggest is that  is 25 



MR LEWIS 
C 8 8 / 2 0 0 7  

537 REPLY 

 

21.01.2010/15:10-16:02/LL / . . .  

th is a case about reasonable accommodat ion,  vis-à-vis  nose 

studs or reasonable accommodat ion vis-à-vis  my pol i t ical 

views and my rel ig ious background.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  M‟Lord ,  I  just  want to deal with  

…(intervent ion)   5 

COURT:  Mr Kahanovitz.  

MR KAHANOVITZ:  Yes.  

COURT:  I  do not …(intervent ion)   

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I  just  need to correct .  I  am not going to 

deal in any depth.   I  just  want to te l l  Your Lordship the 10 

reference to W ikipedia in the heads can be scrapped.  

COURT:  Oh. 

MR KAHANOVITZ:  I t  was not put  to the witness.   Secondly the 

let ter –  there is no let ter f rom the Jewish Board of  Deput ies.  

The reference is to a let ter sent by the appl icant to the Jewi sh 15 

Board of  Deput ies and th ird ly the only content ion made in the 

heads in re lat ion to the car was that  he had asked for the car 

so that  he could work on a Fr iday night  and we were point ing 

to the inconsistencies there in re lat ion to credib i l i ty.   And the - 

Mr Lewis is r ight ,  I  no longer refer to the Green Force(?) 20 

Securi ty judgment.  That is because af ter having reread i t  I  –  

f i rst ly I  th ink i t  is  i r re levant to th is case and secondly I  th ink i t  

is  wrongly decided, so I  abandoned any reference to i t .   I  th in k 

i t  is  inconsistent  with what the Const i tut ional Court  found in 

Pi l lay and I  do not th ink ei ther of  the cases are of  any25 
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re levance to th is case.  Thank you.  

COURT:  Thank you very much.  Judgment wi l l  be reserved.  

COURT ADJOURNS   (at 16:02)  


